## Carnegie Mellon University

## CARNEGIE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

## THESIS

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF Doctor of Philosophy

TITLE	Environment Models for Realistic Simul	lation	
	And Emulation of Wireless Network	<u>s</u>	
PRESENTED BY	Xiaohui Wang		
ACCEPTED BY TH	E DEPARTMENT OF		
	Electrical and Computer Engineer	ing	
	Peter Steenkiste ADVISOR, MAJOR PROFESSOR	2/17/14	DATE
	Larry PileggiDEPARTMENT HEAD	2/24/14	DATE
APPROVED BY TH	IE COLLEGE COUNCIL		
	Vijayakumar Bhagavatula DEAN	3/10/14	DATE

#### Environment Models for Realistic Simulation and Emulation of Wireless Networks

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for

the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

**Electrical and Computer Engineering** 

Xiaohui Wang

B.Eng., Electronic and Information Engineering, Tsinghua University M.S., Electrical and Computer Engineering, Carnegie Mellon University

Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA

February, 2014

#### Abstract

Wireless research and development requires effective and efficient simulation and emulation tools to validate and evaluate wireless designs. Wireless channel models are used in the tools to simulate signal propagation properties in the real physical world. However, due to practical issues, these models are often too generalized and simplified in large scale experiments, and they only provide limited realism.

In this thesis, a novel world model is proposed for simulation and emulation of wireless networks. The proposed model includes the design and implementation of a variety of environment models that enhance realism in simulation. These models capture realistic signal propagation properties across multiple connections, and over time: first, the impact of realistic physical world features, such as channel dynamics and cross link correlation are characterized at different time scales; then, both geometrical and statistical simulation models are developed to recreate desired channel dynamics among wireless network links efficiently.

Three major components of the proposed design are described in this thesis: 1) a flexible channel simulation model, 2) improvement of parameter accuracy in geometric channel models, and 3) wireless link correlation models with a case study in vehicular networks. The flexible channel simulation model supports fast generation of channel updates for complicated channel models, including small-scale fast fading, large-scale path loss and multi-path delay and attenuation. To achieve high realism, a variety of techniques are developed to obtain high parameter accuracy in geographic channel models. Link correlation models are developed for simulating wireless channels within a network context, where adjacent wireless links share the same propagation medium. The wireless link correlation model handles both temporal and spatial correlations, to reflect properties at different time scales and location-based similarities.

A case study in vehicular networks illustrates the effectiveness of using the proposed environment model to improve the realism of wireless simulation and emulation platforms. Simulation results from implemented models are compared against the measurement data from physical world vehicle-to-vehicle channels, and show good approximation to reality. The evaluation results of correlated channel models show improved realism in channel properties and corresponding impact on the performance of a gossip protocol.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor Professor Peter Steenkiste, who is also the chair of my thesis committee. Peter provides me with numerous support in all aspects related to my research and career development. He shows great patience when I explore ideas and then guide me with insightful suggestions and feedback so that I can achieve goals eventually. I am grateful to have Peter as my advisor not only because of his knowledgeable inputs to the research problems I encountered, but also his kindness and responsible handling of difficulties and conflicts I experienced during these years. In addition, he provides a stable, reliable and comfortable research environment so that I was able stay focused on the research questions with minimum distractions. This thesis work will be impossible without any single piece of his support.

I would also like to thank my committee member Prof. Srinivasan Seshan, who provided valuable input in shaping the thesis contribution. His feedback on proper validation and reality check at the thesis proposal stage helped me to advance my understanding of the problem as well as later design. I would like express my appreciation to Dr. Eric W. Anderson, who provided valuable suggestions and feedback constantly to my research work. As a committee member, Eric provides knowledgeable feedback during all stages of my thesis work. In addition, he helped me with hanlding various research challenges, including explore better data analysis and illustration methods, improving presentation skills. I can't say thank you enough for his help. I would also like to thank my committee member Dr. Fan Bai from General Motors R&D for his valuable feedback to my work. Through detailed discussion with Fan during our regular meetings, I learned useful techniques of analyzing real world technical problems.

I would like to express my appreciation to Carnegie Mellon University for providing an open, collaborative, and encouraging environment for researchers. I would also like to thank staff members in the department of Electrical and Computer Engineer (ECE) as well as Computer Science (CS) for their academic and technical support.

This research was funded in part by NSF under award number CNS-0434824, in part by the Air Force Research Laboratory under award number FA89750.10.1.0232, and in part by GM through the Collaborative Research Lab at CMU. I would like to express my appreciation to these sponsors for their support.

I would like to thank fellow graduate students who I have closely worked with, Glenn Judd, Mei-hsuan Lu, Kevin Borries, Reginald Cooper, and George Nychis. In particular, I would like to thank Glenn for his help in the early stage of my research. I learned from him effective research collaboration as well as efficient prototyping when exploring new research ideas. The memorable experience of teaming up with Reginald and Kevin during the Software Defined Radio competition is always a treasure for me. In addition, I want to thank Dr. Lin Cheng who had contributed tremendously to vehicular network measurements as well as geometrical fading model development. His work provided valuable insights and ground truth data to my thesis work. In addition, I would like to thank all the friends, who provide continuous encouragement and support.

I would like to thank my family and my parents who have supported me throughout these years with their unconditional love. They love me by giving me complete freedom in the pursuit of a meaningful life and meanwhile guiding me through difficult times. This thesis is dedicated to my parents.

# Contents

1	Intr	oductio	<b>n</b> 1	L
	1.1	Challe	nges in Wireless Protocol Design	2
	1.2	Featur	es of the Physical World	1
		1.2.1	A Single Wireless Link	5
		1.2.2	The Network	5
		1.2.3	Spatial Correlation	7
		1.2.4	Impact on Wireless Protocols	7
	1.3	Wirele	ss Channel Simulation and Emulation Challenges	3
		1.3.1	Flexible Control of Complex Channel Models	3
		1.3.2	High Dynamics	)
		1.3.3	Network-Scale Simulation	)
	1.4	Propos	ed Solution	)
		1.4.1	A Flexible Channel Simulation Model	)
		1.4.2	Temporal Correlation Models	1
		1.4.3	Cross-Link Correlation Models	1
	1.5	Relate	d Work	2
		1.5.1	Wireless Channel Models	2
		1.5.2	Simulation and Emulation Platforms	3
		1.5.3	Vehicular Networks	1
		1.5.4	Mobility Models	5
		1.5.5	Network Correlations	5

		1.5.6 Protocol Evaluation in Simulation	16
	1.6	Thesis Statement	16
	1.7	Contributions	16
	1.8	Thesis Organization	17
2	Syst	em Design	19
	2.1	System Design Overview	19
	2.2	World Model	20
	2.3	Wireless Feature Analysis and Channel Control	21
	2.4	Flexible Channel Simulation	22
	2.5	Configuration	22
3	Flex	ible Channel Simulation	25
	3.1	Background	25
	3.2	Tap Fading Spectra Simulation	27
		3.2.1 Principle of Operation	28
		3.2.2 The Mobile-to-X Channel Models	29
		3.2.3 The Indoor Channel	33
		3.2.4 General Wireless Channel Model	33
	3.3	Fading Tap Implementation and Validation	34
		3.3.1 Generating Fading Tables	34
		3.3.2 Run Time Simulation	36
		3.3.3 Verification	36
	3.4	Simulation Resource Analysis	37
		3.4.1 System Model	37
		3.4.2 Resource Limits and Feasible Ranges	38
	3.5	Summary	42
4	Tem	poral Correlation Models and Parameters	43
	4.1	Background	43
	4.2	A Realistic V2V Simulation Model	45

	4.2.1	Channel Model Control in Vehicular Channels	45
	4.2.2	A Realistic V2V World Model	48
4.3	Param	eter Analysis	49
	4.3.1	Types of Parameters	49
	4.3.2	Traces Used in Our Study	50
	4.3.3	Example Parameters in Vehicular Channel Models	50
4.4	Geom	etry-based Scatterer Estimation	55
	4.4.1	Estimate Land Cover Type	55
	4.4.2	Calculate Scatterer Density	56
4.5	V2V I	Line-Of-Sight Estimation	58
4.6	Evalua	ation	60
	4.6.1	Wireless Network Emulator	61
	4.6.2	Doppler Spectrum Similarity	62
	4.6.3	Link Layer Comparison	64
4.7	Run-ti	me Complexity	66
	4.7.1	Channel Updates Calculation	66
	4.7.2	Real-Time Constraint	67
	4.7.3	Channel Model Update Cost	68
	4.7.4	Re-usable Fading Table	70
	4.7.5	Off-line Preparation	71
4.8	Summ	ary	73
	4.8.1	Generalization of Approach	73
Cro	ss-Link	(Snatial) Correlation Models	75
5 1	Backo	round	75
5.1	Chann	el Dynamics and Network Adaptation	יט דד
5.2	Model		70
5.5	5 2 1	Types of Channel Models	17 80
	520	Modeling Shedowing and Line of Sight	0U Q1
5 4	5.5.2		01
J.4	Correl		ð2

5

		5.4.1	Geometric Models	. 82
		5.4.2	Statistical Models	83
		5.4.3	Example: Correlated Stochastic Shadowing Model	. 84
		5.4.4	Determine Level of Correlation	. 85
	5.5	NS-3 \$	Simulation Models	. 86
		5.5.1	Gossiping Protocol	. 86
		5.5.2	Simulation Setup	. 87
		5.5.3	Shadowing Models	. 88
		5.5.4	Accuracy of Stochastic LOS Model	. 89
		5.5.5	Simulated Scenario	91
	5.6	Simula	ation Results	91
		5.6.1	Overall Message Delivery Time	. 92
		5.6.2	Delivery Time Relative to Distance	. 93
	5.7	Discus	ssion on Complexity	. 97
		5.7.1	Simulation Model	. 97
		5.7.2	Geometric Models	. 98
		5.7.3	Stochastic Models	. 99
		5.7.4	Overall Complexity Discussion	. 101
	5.8	Summ	ary	101
6	Con	clusion	and Future Work	103
	6.1	Conclu	usion	103
		6.1.1	Contribution	. 104
	6.2	Future	Work	106
		6.2.1	General Vehicular Networks Environment	106
		6.2.2	Address Temporal Correlation at Different Time Scales	. 107
		6.2.3	Sophisticated Cross-Link Correlation for Different Channel Properties .	. 107
Bi	bliog	raphy		109

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Wireless Protocol Control Mechanisms	2	
2.1	Proposed System Design		
3.1	Tapped delay line model of an emulated signal path	26	
3.2	Tapped delay line models for reference channels from 3GPP TS 05.05. 4-tap		
	RAx in solid blue, 12-tap HTx in dotted black	27	
3.3	Tap weight generation process.	28	
3.4	Geometrical Model for V2V Channel [22]	31	
3.5	Doppler spectrum generated by Geometrical Model	32	
3.6	System Architecture	34	
3.7	Akki (MtM) filter spectra for speed ratios $a = 0.5$ and $a = 1. \dots \dots \dots$	35	
3.8	MtM channel time domain samples.	36	
3.9	Generated MtM channel spectrum: $a = 0.5$ , no LOS	37	
3.10	Q-Q plot: MtM channel tap weights vs. Gaussian	38	
4.1	Generate Channel Doppler Spectrum	46	
4.2	Determining parameter values for channel models	51	
4.3	Classified Map	57	
4.4	Roadside Scatterer Density	58	
4.5	Detect Dominant Components (LOS)	59	
4.6	Overall Emulator Architecture	61	
4.7	Spectrum Similarity Comparison on Map	63	
4.8	Spectrum Similarity Comparison (CDF)	64	

4.9	Link Level Comparison	65
4.10	Finest reasonable angular resolution	69
4.11	Time to generate an N-cone fading table.	69
5.1	Examples of Spatial Correlation across Links	78
5.2	Channel Properties/Models at different time scales	79
5.3	Two-state Markov Shadowing Model	82
5.4	Probability of LOS state agreement as a function of distance, geometric model.	83
5.5	Simulation Platform Overview	87
5.6	ECDF of LOS and NLOS durations.	90
5.7	End-To-End Delay	92
5.8	Message Delivery Time	93
5.9	Hop Counts v.s. Distance	95
5.10	Hop Counts	96
5.11	Actual Packet Routes	96

# **List of Tables**

1.1	Physical World Impacts on Wireless Propagation	5
3.1	Wireless network emulator design space variables	39
3.2	Variable Definition	40
4.1	Examples of environment attributes / model parameters	49
4.2	Parameters of Line of Sight Doppler Model	51
4.3	Parameters of Geometrical V2V Model	52
4.4	Parameters of Scattering Granularity Models	54
4.5	Time constraints	67
4.6	Scaling Factors in Parameters	70
4.7	Typical shape-effecting parameter values	72
5.1	Link-level Comparison of Shadowing Models.	90

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

The development of wireless technologies has significantly changed our way of communicating and sharing information. Easy access to networks is available at any time, and at any location, as long as we can build wireless connections among devices that are capable of transmitting and receiving signals in the open air. Wireless devices are usually allowed to move, while wireless connections can still be set up and maintained. Movement of devices and other objects in the propagation medium introduces dynamics in the connection quality of a wireless network. The connectivity may vary over time due to change of device location, moving speed, or time-varying interference in the area, etc.

The wireless dynamics challenge both wireless protocol design and evaluation. To build and maintain network connectivity on unreliable and hard-to-control wireless connections, protocols need to estimate, predict, and adapt to variations. On the other hand, performing controlled and realistic evaluation is also challenging because the wireless environment changes unpredictably and uncontrollably over time in the wild test-beds, while physical world properties are usually not reproduced accurately in simulation and emulation platforms. We will briefly describe challenges in wireless protocol design, followed by an analysis of physical world features that have impact on wireless channel properties. Then, we will address challenges in wireless channel simulation and emulation.

## **1.1 Challenges in Wireless Protocol Design**

Many wireless protocol designs handle variations of connections by constant estimation and prediction of connection quality, allowing them to adapt to the dynamics over time. These protocols adapt to their environment to optimize performance, and increasingly the adaptation is 'cognitive' in the sense that the protocols collect information about the environment and make explicit decisions about how to best adapt.



Figure 1.1: Wireless Protocol Control Mechanisms

#### **Mechanism in Wireless Network Protocol Design**

Cognitive protocols typically have three key components, similar to autonomic systems: sensing, analysis, and adaptation. Sensing means that the protocol measures its environment (*e.g.* channel properties) and its performance (*e.g.* throughput in bits/second). The analysis phase evaluates how well the protocol is doing, given current conditions, and determines how performance can be further improved, if needed. This analysis is typically based on a model of how protocol performance depends on both the environment and protocol configuration. Finally,

the adaptation phase adapts the protocol implementation. Figure 1.1 shows this three-phase control flow. We now elaborate on these three phases.

**Adaptation: protocol control** - Based on the result from the analysis phase, the *Adaptation* phase makes decisions and configures parameters to achieve a high level of performance.

For example, opportunistic routing protocols [12, 34] adapt the candidate routing path by updating the list of forwarding candidates, based on the measurement of the transmission time of a batch of packets during the sensing phase. Rate adaptation protocols, such as SampleRate [11], collect information on the packet delivery rate on a one-hop link. They use collected information to estimate the link quality, and then update the transmit rate accordingly.

**Sensing** - The *Sensing* phase measures link qualities, and monitors network performance, such as network connectivity, or end to end throughput.

Current sensing technologies include both active sensing and passive sensing. Active sensing is usually performed by active probing. For example, the IEEE 802.11 standards [1] allow a station to send *probe request* frames to request information from another station. A *probe response* frame will be sent by *AP*s (access points) that receive the probe message. Passive listening is another sensing method, which is also an effective way to acquire connectivity information, since received messages from other wireless devices may be used to infer the link quality between the sender and the receiver. In the IEEE 802.11 standards, a new client may scan all channels to look for *AP*s, and respond to beacons sent from *AP*s. Passive listening is more common in protocol design, because it does not require additional message exchanges (less overhead traffic), which is especially useful when there is adequate traffic to obtain information about wireless stations.

Dynamics in wireless connectivity requires any information to be updated regularly, to maintain up-to-date knowledge of the network connectivity status. Some wireless protocols rely on observed variation/fluctuations in wireless link properties to trigger an analysis event, followed by a reconfiguration of the protocol. Ideally, the sensing frequency is determined by the rate at which the environment changes. A higher update frequency helps to more accurately reflect the status of the wireless network connection, but incurs higher system overhead due to monitoring and reconfiguration.

When more detailed information is available, such as direct measurements of the link quality,

the sensing phase can help in calibration as well. For example, when the noise level is higher in a crowded wireless environment, the transmit power thresholds needs to be adjusted to the current environment.

**Analysis** - The *Analysis* phase utilizes the information gathered during the sensing phase, and uses models to find the best configuration to optimize performance.

Various models have been developed to analyze the sensing information, and to determine the optimized configuration of the network. For example, the received *SINR* (Signal to Interference and Noise Ratio) model is used to measure the link quality between a pair of wireless devices, while *BER* (Bit Error Rate), *PER* (Packet Error Rate), and *ETX* (Expected Transmission Count [27]) characterize similar features at a higher level of abstraction. To model contention between links, conflict graphs are usually applied to explicitly identify the interference between links. For all links that are logically related, network topology is used to characterize connectivity between wireless devices.

Using these models, the analysis phase then estimates the expected performance for each configuration, and selects the one that optimizes the performance. For example, gossiping protocols [87] actively monitor signals from neighboring nodes and analyze connections to these nodes. This helps a gossiping node to identify sets of neighboring nodes with different levels of connectivities.

### **1.2** Features of the Physical World

Wireless protocols are challenged in real environments since wireless propagation features vary across space and time. Measurements have been conducted to understand and characterize features that impact wireless connections. For example, the distance between a pair of wireless transmitter (Tx) and receiver (Rx) plays a critical role in received signal strength. When we consider the simplest case where there is no other object around a pair of stationary Tx and Rx, the farther the wireless Tx and Rx are apart, the weaker the received signal will be.

In more realistic cases, there exist multiple mobile devices with a set of wireless connections among these devices. The wireless connectivity between these devices may vary similarly when they move or interference sources appear or disappear. The variation in each wireless connection not only shows a temporal pattern related to movement, but also shows a spatial correlation among adjacent wireless connections.

In this section, we will review and identify major physical world features that can impact wireless propagation, as listed in Table 1.1. A bottom-up approach is used here to illustrate simple cases first and complicated scenarios later.

The Network	Spatial Correlation	Temporal Correlation
The Inclwork	(network topology)	(source of impact)
	Static Features	Dynamic Features
A Single Winslead Link	Location, Distance	Device Mobility (Scattering)
A Single wireless Link	Obstacles	Movement of Obstacles
	Ambient Noise	Varying Traffic (Noise, Interference)

Table 1.1: Physical World Impacts on Wireless Propagation

#### **1.2.1** A Single Wireless Link

The propagation properties of a wireless link connecting two wireless devices (Tx/Rx) are determined by the relative location of the devices, as well as surrounding objects.

#### **Static Features**

Wireless signal strength decreases as the electromagnetic wave travels through the medium. The location of a pair of Tx and Rx, along with the distance and existence of obstacles blocking *LOS* (Line Of Sight) between them, determines the dominant propagation path. Moreover, there may exist obstacles around that introduce additional signal path from a Tx to an Rx, due to reflection or diffraction. As a result, the received signal at Rx usually consists of multiple copies of the transmitted signal, with different attenuation and distortion, along with other interfering signals. The combination of several copies of attenuated signal results in a distorted received signal.

The signal attenuation is usually modeled by a path-loss model, such as the log-distance based

model and the two-ray ground reflection model [57, 70, 71], and shadowing models. The quality of a received signal is also affected by the ambient noise level. Higher noise usually comes from heavy background wireless traffic that shares the same space and frequency. In addition, strong signals from adjacent transceivers add interference to the received signal.

#### **Dynamic Features**

The movement of wireless devices and other objects introduces dynamics in the wireless property and complicates the distortion of wireless signals. Mobility of wireless devices introduces variation to the relative speed and location of Tx and Rx, resulting in changes in the path loss. In addition, movement creates time-varying scattering effects, which are denoted as small-scale fading effects.

#### **Temporal Correlation**

Since the dynamics in wireless signals are caused by physical world mobility, the actual variation of a wireless link is correlated over time due to the continuity in physical world changes. Although complicated time-varying properties can be approximated using statistical models with randomness, the variation by nature is not completely random and does have temporal correlation properties underneath.

#### **1.2.2** The Network

Wireless links connect adjacent wireless devices within communication range, creating a wireless network that provides connectivity among participating nodes. The desired network topology, such as a star or mesh topology regulates how wireless connections interact with each other. Although network conflict graphs are developed to model relations in on/off among wireless links status, the propagation features of each link is often individually modeled. In reality, the wireless properties of these links are usually not independent, because nearby objects, along with their activities, may have correlated impact on adjacent links.

#### **1.2.3** Spatial Correlation

Adjacent wireless links in a network show correlated temporal changes, when these links experience similar changes in the environment. This is because the cause of the change usually comes from the same source, such as obstacles blocking the direct wireless path, or increasing noise/interference due to a crowded wireless spectrum.

Often, the same change in environment may affect a set of wireless links in the same vicinity, at roughly the same time. As a result, wireless links that are located near each other would experience similar improvement or degeneration at the same time. On the other hand, any localized impact would only affect a subset of the links, which leads to diversity in the network. We will refer to these correlations among nearby links as spatial correlations. Spatial correlation among wireless links are prevailing in various environments.

#### **1.2.4 Impact on Wireless Protocols**

Both static and dynamic features of the physical world affect wireless link properties and challenge wireless protocols' ability to understand, predict and adapt to such features, on multiple time scales. In addition, protocols are challenged by environment-specific patterns in wireless properties introduced by temporal correlation of channel properties as well as cross-link correlation among multiple connections. Moreover, the channel variation can require adaptation by the protocols at all layers of the protocol stack.

#### **Impact at Multiple Time Scales**

Mobility in the environment introduces dynamics of channel properties at different time scales, such as changes in fading, path loss and multiple path features. Small-scale fading is the result of a combination of multi-path and movement and can happen on time scales ranging from  $\mu$ s to tens of  $\mu$ s, depending on the speed of movement. Path loss depends on the distance between the transmitter and receiver as well as line-of-sight properties, and loss changes on the order of seconds and higher. On an even longer time scale, devices may move between very different environments (e.g., urban canyon to flat rural area into mountains) that have different types of

reflectors and multi-path.

#### **Impact of Correlated Wireless Properties**

Correlation of wireless properties over time and space introduces dependency in channel properties. This challenges wireless protocols to estimate and predict correlated channel properties. For example, protocols utilizing spatial diversity need to predict channel independency accurately to achieve desired diversity among multiple links.

#### **Protocol Adaptation at Different Layers**

Wireless protocols adapt to channel dynamics at multiple layers in the protocol stack. Examples include changes in coding and modulation at the physical layer; different routing, coding, and retransmission strategies at the MAC and network layer; different congestion control solutions at the transport layer; and application level strategies to adapt to available bandwidth.

### **1.3** Wireless Channel Simulation and Emulation Challenges

Simulation and emulation platforms are widely used for evaluation of wireless designs. The ability to control the wireless propagation environment and reproduce the same environment through configuration makes simulation and emulation systems [41, 57, 59] popular in wireless research. We identify several challenges associated with flexibility, realism and efficiency in the control of network simulation and emulation.

#### **1.3.1** Flexible Control of Complex Channel Models

Wireless channels in the physical world show complicated time-varying properties caused by all kinds of dynamics in the environment. For example, fast movement of surrounding objects introduces time-varying reflected signals, which are usually modeled as small (time) scale fading effects. A lot of other environment dynamics contribute to the channel's time-varying features at different time scales: signals received by a mobile attenuate dramatically when the mobile moves

away from the transmitter; background noise level evolves as the overall wireless traffic pattern varies at different times of the day, etc.

Different wireless channel models have been developed to represent variation of channel properties at different time scales. When simulating wireless channels, multiple channel models need to be combined to represent realistic temporal variation of a wireless link over different time scales.

Dynamics in wireless channel properties requires simulated channels to be updated frequently with up-to-date knowledge of channel properties. When using channel models with corresponding parameters to represent channel quality, not only model parameters need to be updated, the exact model suitable for the simulated scenario may also need to be updated. This demands high flexibility in channel update implementation in simulation regarding model updates as well as parameter updates.

Complex models are often required in realistic channel simulation to represent a large set of physical world channel properties. This requires specific combination of multiple complicated channel models with each containing multiple configurable parameters. Flexible control of complex channel models at run time is desired to approximate specific dynamics in simulated wireless environment.

#### **1.3.2** High Dynamics

High dynamics in channel properties are observed in environments with high-speed mobiles. To simulate such high dynamics, channel models and parameters need to be updated frequently to reflect the dynamics. As a result, calculation of channel updates could be computationally expensive, especially for complex channel models which represents complex environments. High efficiency model implementations are desired to simulate such environments with high accuracy.

#### **1.3.3** Network-Scale Simulation

While obtaining accurate and realistic parameter values for one wireless channel configuration may be challenging, configuration of multiple wireless channel for complex environment is even more challenging, especially for environments with high dynamics.

Network-scale wireless simulation requires high efficiency simulation process to support a large-scale networks. The simulation complexity increases dramatically with regard to the size of the simulated network N as well as the size of the simulated area: objects in the area must be modeled accurately, or sophisticated models need to be applied to represent realistic spatial correlation among multiple simulated links. It is even more critical for wireless emulation where all calculation must meet real-time requirement.

In addition, correlation among multiple links should be carefully represented in networkscale simulation to represent the spatial correlation among those links.

### **1.4 Proposed Solution**

A novel wireless simulation architecture design, the 'World Model', is proposed for emulating a broader class of channel conditions, including indoor channels and mobile-to-mobile channels at vehicular speeds at a network scale, in real time.

The proposed design includes three major components: 1) a flexible channel simulation model, 2) wireless models with realistic temporal correlation, and 3) cross-link correlated models among multiple wireless links.

#### **1.4.1 A Flexible Channel Simulation Model**

The flexible channel simulation model is a framework for signal-level real-time simulation and emulation of propagation effects over generalized fading channels, at the scale of entire networks. As in previous work, the channel response is modeled in the time domain using a tapped delay line model. The proposed design generalizes the tap weight generation process to accommodate a broad class of channel conditions, including indoor channels and mobile-to-mobile channels at vehicular speeds. High efficiency at run-time is achieved by optimization of the tap weight generation process giving model parameters with high dynamics. This flexible model can be utilized to implement a wide range of channel models for a variety of realistic wireless environments. In this thesis, the discussion will focus on vehicle-to-vehicle wireless channels, which have high

dynamics, and are among the most challenging cases.

#### **1.4.2** Temporal Correlation Models

Temporal correlation models are designed to specifically handle challenges in modeling realistic link dynamics in wireless networks, considering temporal features. There exist two major types of models capturing temporal correlation: 1) direct modeling of dimensions and mobility in physical world, and 2) stochastic models approximating temporal dynamics. While approach 1) is effective to reflect correlated time-varying features of a channel with high realism, it is often impractical to gather the information required for simulation.

A novel systematic approach is proposed for directly modeling environment-specific channels. The discussion in this thesis focuses on small-scale fading effects in vehicular channels modeling. The proposed design utilizes realistic (and complicated) geometric models along with land cover information derived from aerial maps. In order to approximate parameter values at high resolution, additional geometric information is required as well as a complete analysis of the simulated area before executing the experiments. Automated pre-processing along with fast runtime calculation makes this solution suitable for simulation or emulation. The proposed solution is efficient enough for real-time channel emulation, at the scale of entire networks.

#### 1.4.3 Cross-Link Correlation Models

Wireless channels are sensitive to mobility of objects in the surrounding environment. The impact from these movements may affect multiple adjacent channels at the same time or location, which introduces correlated channel properties over time and space. Current simulation platforms often do not explicitly modeling these correlated time-varying channel features in wireless networks.

Our spatial correlation study proposes practical solutions to identify and compensate for the missing correlated properties in statistical models. The proposed solution introduces cross-link correlation among multiple adjacent links which have independent statistical properties (models or parameters).

## 1.5 Related Work

We provide an overview of most relevant works regarding simulation and emulation of wireless channels here.

#### **1.5.1** Wireless Channel Models

The wireless propagation between two moving objects is generally modeled as a mobile-tomobile communication channel, including large-scale path loss models, and small-scale fading models.

Large-scale path loss (and shadowing) models have been developed to represent path loss caused by loss of direct Line-Of-Sight (LOS) and slow variation of such effects over time. Sample geometric models includes Log-Distance path loss model, two-ray path loss model, and these models require exact information of transceivers and reflectors. Stochastic models, such as two-state Markov shadowing model [74], have been developed and stochastic processes are utilized to create dynamics in channel properties. These models approximate overall statistic properties of each single channel, but the exact dynamics over time could be off of reality, especially for multiple correlated channels.

Small-scale fading models are usually derived from stochastic models with specific assumptions on scatterer distribution pattern, such as ring models [5, 66], an elliptical scattering model, or a circular scattering model [28] that are suitable for stationary-to-mobile channels, but not mobile-to-mobile scenarios where scatterers do not follow the ring pattern around transmitters or receivers. Geometrical scatterring models for mobile-to-mobile channels [6, 22] have also been developed. To model the impact of surrounding objects accurately, these model often requires detailed information about objects in the environment, which is challenging to obtain for large-scale simulation in diverse environment.

We studied popular channel models in existing research work, especially the stochastic shadowing models and geometric scattering models for mobile-to-mobile scenarios. We add new elements to the models to achieve high realism in dynamics for network-scale simulation.

#### **1.5.2** Simulation and Emulation Platforms

Science and engineering rely heavily on the ability to perform controlled, repeatable experiments. Channel simulation and emulation tools are meant to bring some of this ability to wireless research. Traditionally, wireless *communication* researchers have used high-fidelity small-scale models, while wireless *networking* researchers have considered larger-scale systems, but with much less detailed channel models. Network emulation bridges that gap by providing real-time emulated channels between a reasonable number of interacting nodes.

Simulation and emulation platforms for wireless environments have been developed to evaluate wireless designs, and to examine how wireless protocols handle wireless environments and react to dynamics.

Current state-of-the-art channel emulators [7, 18] can simulate advanced point-to-point channel models with high simulation realism and accuracy. In addition, these emulators usually support complex models for *MIMO* channels with tight spatial correlations comparable to the carrier wavelength. However, these point-to-point channel emulators often target at one specific environment without large-scale temporal variation due to mobility which is common in network-scale simulation scenarios. In addition, these channel emulators rarely scale to support multiple wireless channels in wireless networks.

On the other hand, wireless network simulators [33, 47, 57, 58, 59, 70, 79, 80] are widely available for large-scale experiments. In these simulators, several distance-based path loss models [57, 71] and small-scale fading models [56, 69, 71] have been developed to simulate a limited range of time-varying channel properties directly and indirectly. In addition, simulation platforms implementing these models often do not help in picking parameters, which becomes an extra challenge left to users.

Network-level emulators have been developed for large-scale emulation with high realism, such as the CMU Wireless Network Emulator [41], ATEMU [68] and commercial platform RFnest [92]. The CMU Emulator provides flexible control of channel models, implemented as Java software on a general-purpose computer. We utilize the Emulator platform to prototype flexible channel control module, and high efficiency realistic simulation models.

In current simulation and emulation platforms, channels are modeled independently, and

the spatial correlations among adjacent wireless links are not explicitly addressed. When using stochastic models, configurations are independently for each channel, thus spatial correlation is often neglected in simulation. This results in under-estimation of spatial correlation among channels that are close by. To improve the consistency over time and space represented in simulation, we propose simulation models addressing correlation and implemented on simulation platform ns3 [57] as a proof of concept improvement.

#### **1.5.3** Vehicular Networks

Vehicular networks are a group of challenging mobile-to-mobile wireless networks. Measurement studies of vehicular channels have been performed in various locations across the world [19, 21, 61, 82], which provide a set of traces for model evaluation and validation. In addition to the fading effects, the role of the *LOS* component in *DSRC* (Dedicated Short Range Communications) is also examined [14, 53]. These measurement studies requires tremedous effort to be executed, and provide valuable physical wireless environment facts at a specific time for a specific area.

Simulation of wireless vehicular networks consists of modeling vehicles moving at wide speed range on a road network based on traffic constrains, as well as simulating propagation channels among vehicles. SUMO [8] is a widely recognized simulation platform for large-scale simulation of vehicular networks in urban area. While SUMO supports large-scale simulation of vehicular mobility and achieves high realism in vehicle traffic simulation, the platform does not address wireless communication among vehicles. Researchers have attempted to use SUMO's realistic mobility trace as mobility input for wireless network simulation.

Similarly, we utilize SUMO to generate realistic vehicle movements based on the realistic traffic models, and implement realistic shadowing and fading models separately to represent channel dynamics.

#### **1.5.4 Mobility Models**

Vehicle mobility has special patterns due to traffic regulations. Research in network-wide simulation has contributed several traffic simulators, which generate realistic vehicular traffic, such as SUMO [8] and GrooveNet [52]. In addition, mobility models have been developed to reflect vehicle behavior and traffic status in the real world [46, 55, 88]. Simulated traces generated from these traffic simulators are more realistic, compared to other general mobility models [9, 39]. We utilize SUMO [8] with its mobility model extensions [46] to generate realistic vehicle traces for a given road topology, which are later used in ns-3 as input of node movements.

#### **1.5.5** Network Correlations

The correlation cross multiple wireless links has been studied at different time-scales.

The spatial correlation of shadowing property among adjacent links have been frequently observed in wireless networks. Some measurement study specifically quantified the level of correlation versus distance in urban and suburban area [60], while others studies the correlated shadowing effects in multi-hop networks [4] and vehicular network [16]. These measurement studies provide physical world evidence of cross-link correlation.

Studies have shown the correlation in shadowing effects has significant impact on wireless protocol performance [81], specifically in vehicular networks [14]. Moreover, such correlation can even be utilized in discovery [49] and geographic mapping [67].

Therefore, when evaluating protocols using simulation, it is critical to reflect realistic correlation properties.

The spatial correlation can be presented by either detailed geometric channel models with accurate parameters or stochastic correlated models. While obtaining detailed geometric information of all objects is often impractical, correlation models are needed to represent such properties. Unfortunately, current simulation platforms do not provide options of using correlated channel models. We proposed a stochastic correlation model for NLOS shadowing effects as an example that helps to represent spatial correlation among multiple adjacent links. We utilize correlation measurement results mentioned above to parameterize models parameters.

#### **1.5.6** Protocol Evaluation in Simulation

Wireless protocols are designed to provide network connectivity on unreliable and dynamic wireless connections. Protocols, such as rate adaptation protocols [11], handle variations in link quality explicitly. Protocols may even perform better in the presence of spatial and temporal diversity [45, 72]. For example, opportunistic routing protocols [12, 34, 50] leverages spatial diversity explicitly to find alternative paths for improved performance.

However, current simulation platforms usually lack models for simulating realistic high dynamics and correlation properties in real time. As a result, evaluating the performance of wireless protocol designs on such platforms may not reflect the performance that is representative for the physical world where rich variations and correlations exist. Using the realistic environment simulation models presented later in this thesis, we were able to compare protocol performances in such environment with high dynamics and different levels of correlation.

## **1.6 Thesis Statement**

Simulating realistic wireless environments at network-scale requires accurate modeling and parametrization and efficient run-time implementation. The proposed 'World Model' simulation architecture is an effective and practical design for high-realism network-scale wireless simulation. The proposed temporal and cross-link correlation models significantly improve modeling realism as well as parameter accuracy. These simulation models are highly automated and can be applied to existing simulation platforms to enhance channel model realism. This solution significantly improves simulation and emulation realism for large-scale wireless networks.

## 1.7 Contributions

The major contributions of this thesis are:

A complete system design for realistic network-scale wireless simulation and emulation platform: Major design components and configuration considerations are discussed for this design. By identifying channel dynamics across different time scales, corresponding channel simulation models are suggested and combined together to represent a realistic, complex, and practical simulation model for a broad range of environment of a wireless network.

A single fast channel update solution for a wide range of wireless channel models: Flexible channel control model combines channel updates efficiently for complicated channel models, and supports high frequency of channel updates while remains flexible for model updates. Channel updates can be generated efficiently for a wide variety of indoor and outdoor wireless propagation models using a tapped delay line with multiple fading tables.

A systematic approach to estimate location-specific object distribution: Using aerial photography and land cover image processing techniques, a fully automated pre-processing method is developed to estimate roadside scatterer density over an area of interest. High accuracy and low run-time computation makes this solution effective and practical.

A distance-based cross-link correlation model for shadowing properties: Cross-link correlation among multiple links are represented using stochastic models with additional components, the correlation models, designed to approximate spatially correlated channel properties among nearby links. An example of LOS/NLOS shadowing properties is illustrated in the design. Generalization of the distance-based correlation model is discussed for typical wireless environments.

A flexible, practical and reliable platform for vehicular wireless network research: A vehicular network simulation example is implemented in ns-3. The example supports spatial correlation channel models for shadowing properties. We study the impact of the correlation model on the performance of a basic gossip protocol. Complexity analysis of different modeling options provides guidelines for selecting the most appropriate model.

## **1.8 Thesis Organization**

The rest of the thesis is organized as follows:

Chapter 2 presents system design of the 'World Model' simulation architecture, where highlevel description of major components and configuration details are discussed.

Chapter 3-5 present design, implementation, and evaluation of three major components in

the 'World Model': Chapter 3 focuses on the flexible channel simulation model for fast run-time implementation of signal-level changes. Chapter 4 focuses on improving simulation realism for temporal correlated models. Chapter 5 focuses on compensating lost cross-link correlation properties in statistical models.

Finally, Chapter 6 summarizes the thesis, including the conclusions drawn from the research, and a discussion on future work.

## Chapter 2

## System Design

Simulation and emulation platforms are widely used for evaluation of wireless designs. The ability to control the wireless propagation environment and reproduce the same environment through configuration makes simulation and/or emulation popular in wireless research.

Here we first present our proposed system design of a wireless simulation platform, followed by a detailed discussion of the necessary models needed to achieve realism.

## 2.1 System Design Overview

As described in Chapter 1, the physical world has a significant impact on wireless signal propagation. To reflect this impact in wireless simulation/emulation platforms, we apply multiple modules in the system to model and represent these features. There exist a number of channel models that represent specific point-to-point link properties. However, proper selection and configuration of these models requires information about the physical environment in which the network is deployed. Our proposed system design provides a flexible configuration of realistic wireless environment, and is capable of modeling the physical world impacts described in Chapter 1.2 from the experiment configuration.

The system design consists of four major components: 1) a **World Model** that contains models of objects and events that reflects physical world objects and activities; 2) a **Wireless Feature Analysis** module that extracts relevant wireless link related features from the world



Figure 2.1: Proposed System Design

model events, and performs spatial and temporal analysis to select propagation models; 3) a **Channel Model** module that configures path models and updates parameters to reflect channel dynamics as desired; and 4) a **Configuration** module that users can use to define the type of environment they want to use in their experiments. It includes an input interface to enforce user-specified feature in the simulation.

## 2.2 World Model

The *World Model* component represents objects and associated activities and events during the simulation. For a given wireless environment, a set of objects and associated activity (events) are modeled depends on the specific physical environment. The object models can be created with desired properties, such as location and object mobility (speed, routes etc.)

While some object mobility events can be created explicitly from user input, other events should be derived using mobility models and other behavior-based collective models. For example, given the average speed and variation of moving vehicles in the environment, the movement of a group of vehicle objects can be implemented to reflect the desired statistical properties.

Objects in the world model all have an initial state, and changes in the state during the simulation will be regarded as update events. The initial states of objects and update events will thus represent a concrete instance of object behavior.

At each simulated step, events occurring at that moment introduce changes in object location and speed, which is updated accordingly. The changes are then passed on to the feature analysis component for further analysis.

## 2.3 Wireless Feature Analysis and Channel Control

The wireless channel characteristics are determined by objects in the environment as well as associated behaviors, such as location and mobility which are represented as world model states and update events. A *wireless feature analysis* model is designed to analyze the impact of these world model behaviors on wireless propagation.

Most simulation platforms use single-link channel models. For each link, there is a large set of possible configurations. When emulating the wireless propagation of a link, a most suitable channel model is selected, unless it is specified by the user explicitly. In addition, parameters in the selected channel model must be configured to represent specific link properties.

While wireless networks comprised of adjacent wireless links are modeled by a simple combination of isolated single link models, we find that behavior of these links is not necessarily independent in the physical world. More specifically, there exists both spatial and temporal correlations among adjacent links.

The *wireless feature analysis* component will interpret network state and updates from the World Model component, so that network-wide (cross-link) correlation property will be discovered. Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 will focus on design elements and consideration for the Temporal Correlation Analysis module and Spatial Correlation Analysis module, respectively.
After analysis of all network state updates, only updates affecting wireless properties are then passed on to the *Channel Model Control* module. Initially, a most suitable channel simulation model, selected by user or determined from current channel features, is applied to each wireless channel. The *Channel Model Control* is responsible for generating channel updates at desired frequency to approximate dynamics in channel properties. In addition, channel models should also be updated when significant channel feature changes are observed and a better channel model selection is available. Channel model updates and channel updates are constantly passed on to the *Flexible Channel Simulation* module where real-time updates are applied to each propagation paths.

## 2.4 Flexible Channel Simulation

Many point-to-point channel models have been developed [76, 83, 93] to characterize physical layer impacts that introduce attenuation and distortion of the propagated wireless signals. However, only a small set of these channel models has been implemented in network simulation/emulation platforms [33, 47, 57, 70, 80]. These platforms support several basic and simple channel models, while others [18] developed a limited number of complicated ones and require advanced understanding of the model to pre-configure the model and parameters properly. In Chapter 3, we will discuss our preliminary result on a *flexible channel simulation* model implementation that can produce a wide range of channel dynamics at a network scale, .

## 2.5 Configuration

Wireless experiments are designed and configured by users. In practice, most users adopt default parameter values for channel models in network experiments. There are two major reasons:

- 1. Users do not always know how to configure every single parameter in the models;
- 2. There are too many independent parameters in large-scale experiments.
- 3. It is difficult to update many parameters over time in a way that properly reflect both channel dynamics on multiple time scales and spatial correlation between nearby channels.

The *Configuration* component in the system is designed to help normal users to configure their experiment efficiently.

Wireless protocols are often designed for specific types of wireless deployments, and the simulation environment should be adapted to reflect the wireless properties of that desired physical world. The first step in configuration is to classify the wireless environment at a high level, such as indoor/office, outdoor/urban, etc.. With proper characterization of the type of wireless environment, a more suitable set of parameters can be obtained. This configuration module is also flexible in combining and switching between model inputs and user inputs, *e.g.*, allow overwriting of default configurations or providing a detailed and specific configuration of an object, a series of events, a particular channel model, or a parameter in the model.

The design and implementation of a wireless simulation/emulation platform as described in this section requires several critical design challenges to be addressed. We will organize the presentation of our solutions for addressing these challenges in the following chapters in a bottomup order: starting with our preliminary result on the flexible channel update implementation in Chapter 3, and discuss spatial and temporal correlation models in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5. Example platform setup for wireless vehicular network are also discussed in each chapter for the corresponding component.

# Chapter 3

## **Flexible Channel Simulation**

Wireless network emulation enables controlled repeatable experimentation with reasonable-sized wireless networks. The combination of real radio hardware and signal-level emulation provides a level of realism significantly greater than that of network simulators, while the scale allows network-wide issues such as routing, forwarding, and resource management to be studied. Dynamics of wireless channel properties are simulated using channel models to approximate realistic variations.

Different channel models represent a large variety of link propagation features in the real physical world. Wireless channel dynamics means that any propagation feature of a link may change over time. Therefore, fast (and real time) configuration of such time varying features is necessary during wireless simulation and emulation.

In this chapter, we present a software and hardware architecture for emulating a broad class of channel conditions, including indoor channels and mobile-to-mobile channels at vehicular speeds, in real time.

## 3.1 Background

Prior work simulates Rayleigh and Rician fading at stationary-to-pedestrian speeds, but cannot support more general wireless channels [17, 42]. Recent work on FPGA-based emulation of vehicular channels [31] was able to provide configurable and flexible emulation. However, the

proposed solution only support emulation between one pair of transceivers.

The CMU Wireless Network Emulator introduced the ability to do signal-level emulation for up to 15 nodes for general wireless channels. In that approach, for n nodes, all n(n-1) channels between them are modeled using a tapped delay line approach.

As in previous work, channel response is modeled in the time domain using a tapped delay line model, illustrated in Figure 3.1. Each tap effectively represents a resolvable propagation path, and the evolution of tap weights provides a statistical approximation of Doppler spreading and non-resolvable multipath effects. Time-varying tap weights must be generated to reflect desired large scale attenuation and small scale fading characteristics. The delay between taps and their relative magnitude determine the *frequency selectivity* of the channel and the degree of *inter-symbol interference* experienced. The rate at which tap weights change and the patterns of those changes determine *coherence time*, the (simulated) *Doppler spreading*, and higher-order statistics such as the *average fade duration*. In this chapter, the design and implementation of a flexible fading simulator is presented. The proposed solution is capable of producing a wide variety of weight sequences at each tap in real time.



Figure 3.1: Tapped delay line model of an emulated signal path.

Two example channel definitions from GSM 3GPP [29] are shown in Figure 3.2. The rural area channel (RAx) is defined by four taps with a maximum excess delay of 0.5  $\mu$ s; the first has a Jakes Doppler spectrum with a line-of-sight (*LOS*) component and the remaining are classical (Jakes). The hilly terrain (HTx) channel is defined by twelve taps with a maximum excess delay

of 20  $\mu$ s; all taps have a classical Doppler spectrum. Reference channels for wideband mobileto-mobile communication are not similarly standardized, however theoretical models and recent measurements suggest an Akki spectrum like those shown in Figure 3.7, and terrain-dependent delay spreads ranging from 0.3 to 5  $\mu$ s [5, 62, 63, 82, 94].



Figure 3.2: Tapped delay line models for reference channels from 3GPP TS 05.05. 4-tap RAx in solid blue, 12-tap HTx in dotted black.

A prototype of a channel simulation model is developed on the CMU Wireless Emulator platform [41] that is capable of switching in real time among multiple mobile-to-mobile and mobile-to-stationary fading channels. Several fading channel models have been implemented, representing different Doppler power spectra and a *LOS* component. For wireless experiments, channel updates are calculated frequently to reflect dynamics. The channel update rate is limited by system-wide hardware/software resources. Although techniques have been developed to utilize precomputed components for fast run-time adaptation, complex channel models usually require more computational resources to model and update at run time. The simulated network size is therefore limited by the number of channels that can be simulated at real time. Our design and implementation of a flexible simulation model is based on this Emulator platform and its tapped delay line implementation.

## **3.2 Tap Fading Spectra Simulation**

Viewed in the frequency domain, the important properties of a tap weight sequence are captured by the Doppler power spectral density (Doppler spectrum) it produces. We therefore describe tap weight generation process in terms of the *fading spectrum* at each tap. The architecture described below can produce the dramatically varying tap fading spectra associated with a wide range of wireless channels.

## **3.2.1** Principle of Operation

For each tap, weights with the desired characteristics are computed as illustrated in Figure 3.3. The desired spectrum is defined as a weighted sum of simpler spectra, and is produced at run time by combining samples drawn from its components. An attractive feature of this design is that a modest number of component spectra suffices to generate a broad range of channels (including most of the models discussed here, except for the geometric scatterering model), and the computational work of generating samples for those spectra can be done off-line. This leaves only light-weight sampling and summing operations to be done in real time when there are no significant parameter changes. This process is described in more detail below:



Figure 3.3: Tap weight generation process.

For each component Doppler spectrum, a frequency-domain channel response is generated as sequence of zero-mean i.i.d. Gaussian random numbers. Each sequence is filtered with the appropriate Doppler spectrum [77]. Each spectrum represents one type of Doppler shifting or spreading of the propagated signal, for example the classic mobile-to-stationary (MtS) channel corresponds to the U-shaped Jakes Doppler spectrum.

After filtering, each sequence is then converted to a time domain sequence, normalized, and stored in a lookup table which we refer to as a *fading table*. Each fading table represents not just a single Doppler spectrum but a *family* of spectra, because different levels of Doppler shifting can be produced by iterating through the same table in larger or smaller steps. Additionally, many uncorrelated sequences can be drawn from the same table using different starting indices<sup>1</sup>. Therefore, a single fading table can represent *all* Jakes spectra, while the Akki spectra require a separate table for each value of *a*, but not for each  $f_{m_1}$  in Eq. (3.3). The Doppler spectrum for geometric scattering models are time-variant. However, if we consider the contribution of each frequency component as one Doppler spectra contributor, the variation is essentially the change of power contributors. Since each contributor is associated with one frequency shift, as well as its corresponding weight (the contribution). Therefore, one fading table needs to be generated for each spectra contributor. At run time, the power contribution determines the weight  $p_{j,k}$  for each spectra contributor *k*.

For any given tap i, at each time t, the tap weight  $b_i(t)$  is produced by taking the "next" value from every fading table, and combining these values using the (possibly 0) weights  $p_j(t)$ . Therefore, each tap's fading spectrum can be any of the component spectra, or a combined spectrum representing multiple fading effects. For example a Rayleigh-distributed classical Doppler spectrum combined with a line-of-sight factor produces a Rician distribution. For time-varying Doppler spectra, the combination of all related fading tables is required. Several of the important component Doppler spectra are described in the following sections.

## 3.2.2 The Mobile-to-X Channel Models

The mobile-to-stationary (MtS) scattering channel, as modeled by [24], assumes a ring of scatters around the receiver producing a uniformly distributed angle of arrival. The Doppler power

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Multiple tables may optionally be used if the possibility of a spaced-time correlation must be avoided.

spectrum S(f) of *MtS* fading channels can be described as Eq. (3.1):

$$S(f) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4\pi f_m} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{(f - f_c)^2}{f_m^2}}}, & |f - f_c| \le f_m \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where  $f_c$  is the center frequency, and  $f_m$  is the maximum Doppler shift, defined as:

$$f_m = \frac{V}{c} f_c \tag{3.2}$$

In Eq. (3.2), V is the speed of the mobile and c is the speed of light. A filter sequence generated for  $f_{max}$  can be used for any  $f_m \in (0, f_{max}]$  by stepping through the sequence at a lower speed.  $f_m$  and  $f_{max}$  correspond directly to V and some  $V_{max}$ , which is the greatest (physical) speed for which the sequence can be used.

The mobile-to-mobile (*MtM*) scattering channel, as modeled by [5], considers independent double-ring scattering (that is, at both transmitter and receiver). Let the speed of the first mobile be  $V_1$ , and the speed of the second be  $V_2$  (without loss of generality  $V_1 \ge V_2$ ). The corresponding maximum Doppler shifts are  $f_{m_1}$  and  $f_{m_2}$  respectively. The Doppler power spectrum S(f) of *MtM* fading channel is described by Eq. (3.3):

$$S(f) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\pi^2 f_{m_1} \sqrt{a}} Re(K[\frac{(1+a)}{2\sqrt{a}} \sqrt{1 - (\frac{f - f_c}{(1+a)f_{m_1}})^2}]), \\ when \quad |f - f_c| \le (1+a)f_{m_1} \\ 0, \quad otherwise \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

where  $K(\cdot)$  is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind, and a is the speed ratio, defined as:  $a = V_2/V_1$ , (0 <  $a \le 1$ ).

For any given a, a single fading table can be generated to produce tap sequences for any  $V_1$ up to a predefined maximum, as with the *MtS* channel. At any time t,  $V_1(t)$  determines the rate at which new values are read from the table.

Setting a = 0 causes the mobile-to-mobile channel to approximately reduce to the classical mobile-to-stationary channel: The *MtM* model still considers a ring of scatters around each mobile, but the effect of scatterers around the stationary device is negligible. Although the fading sequences generated using Eq. (3.1) (Rayleigh distribution) are not exactly the same as the sequences generated using Eq. (3.3) (double-Rayleigh distribution) when a = 0, the results are very close in most cases, and can be used as a reasonable approximation.

The mobile-to-mobile scattering channel for vehicular networks, as proposed by [22], attempts to capture the small-scale fading effects from reflections off roadside objects.



Figure 3.4: Geometrical Model for V2V Channel [22]

This fading model is a geometric model that uses location and density of roadside objects (buildings and trees) to estimate the reflections and their impact on fading, as shown in Figure 3.4. The assumption of scatterer location (arranged along both sides of the road) in this model is a close approximation of the reality in vehicular networks, thus we adopt this model as an example of geometry-based fading models for stationary scatterers.

In this model, the roadside objects are divided into small *cones* by the angle of arrival of the reflected path. The fading Doppler spectrum is then computed by aggregating frequency response from scatterers within each small cone.

$$S(f)df = G(\theta)p(\theta)f(\theta)d\theta.$$
(3.4)

#### Where

 $p(\theta)$  is the probability distribution of  $\theta$ ;

 $f(\theta)$  is the response from scatterers observed at angle  $\theta$ ;

 $G(\theta)$  is antenna gain in the direction  $\theta$ ;

and S(f) is received power density at frequency f.



Figure 3.5: Doppler spectrum generated by Geometrical Model

A sample Doppler spectrum generated using this model is shown in Figure 3.5 and Figure 4.1(a) shows it combined with the LOS component. More details can be found in the paper [22].

#### Finer Granularity Fading (Spectrum De-smoothing)

When we compare the modeled Doppler spectrum in Figure 4.1(a), the measured spectrum in Figure 4.1(d) is jagged. This is a direct result of our methodology.

The geometry-based model described above calculates the Doppler spectrum for fading caused by reflections off large objects. A key parameter is the estimated density of scatterers. As we discuss in more detail later, our methodology for estimating this density based on aerial photography results in a fairly coarse estimate for the density. Specifically, we present result for density estimate on a 10 meter grid. While it is sufficient to capture building and large trees or groups of trees, it is not sufficient to capture the impact of individual scattering features on these objects, or to capture the impact of small scatterers. As a result, we should view the Doppler spectrum envelop as an average fading Doppler spectrum envelope for the large objects in the environment, which explains why it is smooth.

The many small "peaks" in the measured Doppler spectrum in Figure 4.1(d) are a result of

the small scatterers in the environment, including small features on large objects. Since we lack ground truth for the small scatterers, we do not try to develop a detailed model for them, as we do for large objects. Instead, we model their impact by filtering the spectrum used in simulation with a random variable, as suggested in [66], to approach actual randomness in scatterer density at a finer granularity.

In addition, the Doppler effect on a line of sight signal between two (possibly) mobile stations is a simple frequency shift: If  $\theta_{Tx}$  ( $\theta_{Rx}$ ) is the angle between the transmitter's (receiver's) velocity vector  $\vec{v}_{Tx}$  ( $\vec{v}_{Rx}$ ) and the direction of wave propagation, the Doppler shift  $f_d$  is given by:

$$\frac{f_d}{f_0} = \frac{|\vec{v}_{Tx}|}{c}\cos(\theta_{Tx}) + \frac{|\vec{v}_{Rx}|}{c}\cos(\theta_{Rx})$$

The Doppler spectrum for this signal is an impulse at  $f_d$ .

## **3.2.3** The Indoor Channel

Another Doppler spectrum of interest is an indoor scattering spectrum. Indoor channels are generally distinguished by relatively low velocities and a rich three-dimensional scattering environment. Both measurement studies and theoretical models suggest that this combination leads to a "flat" Doppler spectrum [25, 86, 95]. The flat spectrum is not a special case of the mobile-to-mobile channel described above, but can still be simulated using the general procedure from § 3.2.1.

## 3.2.4 General Wireless Channel Model

As described in § 3.2.1, multiple fading models can be combined to represent an aggregate fading spectrum. This allows for combinations beyond the specific models discussed in this section, for example, [84] improves the *MtM* scattering model by combining multiple Doppler spectra with an LOS component. Near-arbitrary user-defined component spectra can be included, as long as they are known in advance.

## **3.3** Fading Tap Implementation and Validation

This section discusses the implementation and validation of the tap fading spectrum generation process described in the preceding section. Our prototype is implemented on the CMU Wireless Network Emulator [17] for the 2.4 GHz ISM band. The architecture is shown in Figure 3.6: A control computer generates tap configuration values in real time using the process described here, and the weight and delay values are sent to the signal processing FPGA. Both the mobile-to-x and indoor fading models are implemented on this platform. Discussion will be focused on the mobile-to-x case.



Figure 3.6: System Architecture

## 3.3.1 Generating Fading Tables

Tap weights are generated using the process in Figure 3.3. A long sequence of frequency sampling points is created to represent one Doppler spectrum. We choose a maximum speed  $V_{max} = 70 \text{ m/s} (\approx 156 \text{ mile/h})$ . Relative to a center frequency  $f_c$  of 2.437 GHz, the maximum Doppler shift is  $f_{max} = \frac{V_{max}}{c} f_c \approx 600 \text{ Hz}$ . This requires a sampling frequency  $f_s \ge 1.2 \text{ kHz}$  to smoothly simulate spectra for Doppler shifts up to  $f_{max}$ . We select  $f_s$  to be 1.2 kHz. As a result, the time between data points in the time-domain fading tables is  $\frac{1}{f_s} \approx 0.42 \text{ }\mu\text{s}$ . The more

sampling points used for a given frequency range, the longer the resulting time-domain fading table can be. We choose a sequence length of 65536, which implies a time-domain fading table covering  $\approx 30$  seconds at  $V_{max}$ . This means that the small-scale fading process is periodic, but we consider the period to be acceptably long.

The prototype generates sequences for the following component Doppler spectra:

- A normalized Jakes' spectrum (Eq. (3.1)) to represent the *MtS* Doppler power spectrum.
- A set of Akki spectra (Eq. (3.3)) for the *MtM* Doppler power spectra for different (binned) speed ratios. The  $K(\cdot)$  values in Eq. (3.3) are static, and thus generated off-line.
- A normalized "flat" indoor Doppler power spectrum.
- Two LOS spectra with a spike at  $f_{LOS} = \pm \frac{V}{c} f_c$ .

Figure 3.7 shows two examples of the Akki spectrum filter generated for the *MtM* Doppler power spectrum, with speed ratios a = 0.5 and 1, with no LOS component. Figure 3.8 shows a corresponding sequence of time domain fading samples generated for a = 1.



Figure 3.7: Akki (MtM) filter spectra for speed ratios a = 0.5 and a = 1.



Figure 3.8: MtM channel time domain samples.

## **3.3.2 Run Time Simulation**

At run time, the control software selects fading tables and assigns power factors to each fading table. For example, when both nodes are moving, an *MtM* fading table is selected: the current speed ratio  $a = \frac{V_2}{V_1}$  determines which *MtM* Doppler power spectrum is applied. The power factors can be either configured by the user, or set to default values for typical channels. For example, when there is a direct LOS between sender and receiver, the LOS components will be included with higher power factors. The run-time software infers channel requirements from higher-layer environment models, switching fading tables and changing power factors when necessary.

## 3.3.3 Verification

This section presents a qualitative statistical evaluation of the samples produced by our prototype implementation. Figure 3.9 shows an averaged frequency domain view of a large number of (time domain) fading sequences for the MtM channel with a = 0.5. The result shows random variation around the filter spectrum shape.



Figure 3.9: Generated MtM channel spectrum: a = 0.5, no LOS.

We also evaluate the distribution of the filtered samples. Theoretically, linear transformation of Gaussian random vectors result in Gaussian random vectors. Because the filtering process and IDFT in Figure 3.3 are both linear, the resulting fading are expected to be Gaussian variables. Figure 3.10 shows a Q-Q plot of normalized fading table values against a zero-mean Gaussian distribution with standard deviation of 1.0. The straight-line fit suggests that the Gaussian distribution is maintained.

## **3.4** Simulation Resource Analysis

## 3.4.1 System Model

The architecture considered here is based on the current CMU Wireless Network Emulator [17], and is shown in Figure 3.6. Signal processing, which must be fast and synchronous, is performed in a central FPGA. Channel (and higher-level environmental) modeling, which is more complicated and less timing-sensitive, is performed on a general-purpose computer. The two systems are linked by a serial channel. In this architecture, FPGA resources limit operations on the signal path, host CPU resources limit channel modeling, and the bandwidth of the host–FPGA link



Figure 3.10: Q-Q plot: MtM channel tap weights vs. Gaussian

limits updates to the signal path. Timing precision on the host is a cross-cutting issue. The techniques discussed in this section are applicable to other architectures, but we will use this as a reference point in considering the resource costs of various simulation options.

Variables having a significant impact on resource use are shown in Table 3.1. Any given resource limit will allow trade-offs over these variables; specifics are discussed below.

## 3.4.2 **Resource Limits and Feasible Ranges**

For the sake of simplicity, we consider only homogeneous designs in which every node, channel, and path gets the same level of resources as every other. A well-chosen inhomogeneous configuration might be more useful, however the homogeneous case serves to illustrate general limits.

Some preliminary definitions are shown in Table 3.2:

Variable	Design Points	
Bandwidth	5 MHz (min. IMT-Advanced channel)	
	22 MHz (one 802.11 channel)	
	$83.5~\mathrm{MHz}$ (2.4 GHz ISM band)	
	84  MHz (upper UHF TV bands)	
Channels	2 (single bi-directional link)	
	18 (3x3 MIMO, bi-directional)	
	760 (20 node SISO network)	
	3420 (20 node 3x3 MIMO)	
Taps per channel	1 (minimum)	
	2 (TS 05.05 indoor model)	
	6 (TS 05.05 rural and reduced models)	
	12 (All TS 05.05 models)	
Maximum excess delay	$\approx 0.4 \ \mu s$ (802.11 card equalizer)	
	0.4-0.6 $\mu$ s (rural, indoor models)	
	$5.0 \ \mu s$ (urban model)	
	20.0 µs (hilly terrain model)	
Minimum coherence time	23 $\mu$ s (v2v worst-case 300 km/h, 5.9 GHz)	
	50 $\mu s$ (v2v, worst-case 300 km/h, 2.4 GHz)	
	260 $\mu$ s (v2v worst measured, 5.9 GHz)	

Table 3.1: Wireless network emulator design space variables

Variable		Definition
n		number of nodes
A		number of antennas per node
p		number of taps per channel
au		maximum excess delay
N	$= A^2 n(n-1) \ \mathbf{p}$	total number of taps (paths)
$f_m$	$=\frac{v}{\lambda}$	maximum Doppler spread
$T_C$	$\approx \frac{.25}{f_m}$	minimum coherence time
В		bandwidth
$f_{samp}$	$\geq 2B$	sampling rate
d		dynamic range (dB)
S	$\geq \frac{d}{6.02}$	sample size (bits)

Table 3.2: Variable Definition

#### **FPGA Multipliers Blocks**

The main limiting operation in the tapped delay line channel model is the signal multiplication for each tap. These are implemented using dedicated multiplier components in the FPGA fabric. Our reference FPGA, the Virtex-6 XC6VS475T, contains  $\approx 2,000$  multipliers with a maximum operational rate of 600 MHz [91]. This gives a limit of  $f_{mult} \leq 1.2 * 10^{12}$  multiplications per second. Each tap requires one multiplication for every sample processed. The number of distinct paths is therefore bounded by Eq. (3.5):

$$N \le \frac{f_{mult}}{f_{samp}} \le \frac{f_{mult}}{2B} \tag{3.5}$$

If B = 100 MHz ( $\approx$  the 2.4 GHz ISM band or upper (ch. 38 – 51) UHF TV band), this gives  $N \leq 6000$ . This allows, for example, a 22-node SISO network with 12 taps per channel, or a 15-node 3x3 MIMO network with 3 taps. Referring to Table 3.2, the multiplier cost is O(n) in bandwidth and taps per channel, but  $O(n^2)$  in nodes or antennas per node.

#### **Block RAM**

Delay on the simulated signal paths is implemented using on-chip block RAM. The memory required depends on the sample size (which depends on the required dynamic range), the sample rate, and the duration for which a sample must remain in RAM, which is the channel delay spread. Define the duration of data that can be stored as:

$$S_{max} \le \frac{\text{RAM}}{sf_{samp}} \tag{3.6}$$

Our reference FPGA has a  $3.6 * 10^7$  bits of block RAM. Considering B = 100 MHz, and an 18-bit sample size (d = 108 dB),  $S_{max} \le 1$  S. The delay spread is bound by Eq. (3.7). The number of taps is not a factor, as each sample needs to be held until the final tap, regardless of the total number.

$$\tau \le \frac{S_{max}}{A^2 n(n-1)} \tag{3.7}$$

For any of the channels discussed in Table 3.1, multipliers will be the limiting factor on our FPGA: Considering the limiting 15-node 3x3 MIMO network from above,  $\tau \leq 530 \ \mu s$ .

#### **Host-FPGA Communication**

If tap weights are computed on the host, and evolve according to a random process, they must be sent to the FPGA at an interval of k times the tap's coherence time. The k will depend on the sophistication of on-FPGA interpolation, but by definition the value cannot be accurately forecast beyond the duration for which there is significant correlation. Let  $s_t$  be the size of a tap weight, in bits. The (worst case) data rate r will be bound by Eq. (3.8):

$$\frac{s_t N}{kT_c} \le r \le \text{host-fpga bandwidth}$$
(3.8)

Consider as a design point k = 1,  $s_t = 24$  bits, and 1 Gb/s of bandwidth. This gives the following relation:  $N \leq 4*10^7 T_c$ . This is in fact limiting for vehicular coherence time estimates: For our worst-case coherence time of  $T_c = 23 \,\mu$ s, this allows about 960 taps, enough for a 9-node (SISO) network with 12-tap channels, or a 15 nodes with 4-tap channels. On the other hand, the worst *observed* value  $T_c = 260 \,\mu$ s allows 30 nodes with 12-tap channels. The number of possible taps is O(n) in the minimum coherence time, and in the available bandwidth. The number of taps required scales as described in § 3.4.2.

## 3.5 Summary

Network emulation enables research into network-scale systems – which would otherwise be limited to low-fidelity network simulators and one-off field experiments – to use real radio hard-ware and realistic channel models.

In this chapter, we present a framework for signal-level emulation of propagation effects over generalized fading channels, at the scale of entire networks. In §3.2 we described our architecture for generating appropriate tap weights. Our hardware and software architecture goes beyond previous work in that it supports real-time emulation of a very general and parametric class of channels, which includes vehicular (broadband mobile-to-mobile) and indoor channels, in addition to classical stationary-to-mobile and stationary-to-stationary channels.

In §3.3, we presented our implementation of the tap weight generation process and verification. Lastly, we discussed the resources required to effectively implement various channel models in § 3.4.

Given the ability to implement a wide range of channel models, the next challenge is determining which models to use for each channel – and for inter-channel interactions – given arbitrary and dynamic user-specified environments, which is presented in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5.

# **Chapter 4**

# Temporal Correlation Models and Parameters

In this Chapter, we presents a general framework for modeling and reproducing environmentspecific channel properties with high accuracy.

Complex geometric channel models have been developed to represent wireless properties and dynamics at high level of details. However, the problem of what parameters to use for a specific environment is less well studied, although parameter configuration in these models has a big impact on modeling accuracy. We studied a geometric model for channel scattering features, and a systematic approach is presented in this chapter to estimate location-specific scattering properties using aerial photography. We first describe the proposed framework in detail and then validate it for fading and line-of-sight effects in vehicle-to-vehicle channels. We show that it is practical to estimate *localized* environment information, and that adding such information to state-of-the art channel models significantly increases their accuracy.

## 4.1 Background

Areas with high speed mobiles are considered to be the most challenging environments when simulating dynamics. This is because of the swift changes occurs in a relative short period of time due to the high mobility. A typical representative of wireless network exhibiting such high dynamics are vehicular networks. Therefore, we will focus our discussion on vehicular networks in this chapter.

The properties of vehicle-to-vehicle (V2V) and vehicle-to-infrastructure (V2I) wireless channels are highly variable and difficult to estimate . Vehicles can travel through very different environments, producing distinctly different channels, *e.g.*, in urban environments, on rural roads, and on multi-lane highways. Even within a given area, the location and density of surrounding objects varies dramatically, leading to varying impact on reflected signals.

Realistic vehicular channel models provide a basis for analysis and evaluation of wireless vehicular networks by allowing flexible, controllable, repeatable experimentation. While general mobile-to-mobile channel models are currently supported in some wireless network simulation and emulation systems [57, 70, 89], those models do not capture the unique, environment-specific and highly dynamic properties of vehicular channels.

The differences between V2V-specific channels and the 'general mobile-to-mobile model' are largely the result of differences in technological assumptions: In contracts to cellular, technologies like DSRC and Wi-Fi have relatively short communication ranges (tens to hundreds of meters) which makes *local* conditions and geometry very important, and reduces the usefulness of wide-area averages. This limitation crops up in two significant ways: First "averaged geometries," such as an infinite uniformly-distributed field of scatterers, are less valid. Second "averaged parameters," such as a uniform density of road-side objects, are less predictive. One especially pernicious local effect is "line of sight" (LOS) obstruction by moving vehicles. Recent studies show a 10dB to 30dB LOS effect on received signal strength [54]. While this is conceptually just a special case of shadowing, it is caused by small fast obstacles with highly-patterned movement, while typical shadowing effects are caused by the terminals' positions relative to large stationary terrain features. These processes produce substantially different dynamics.

Fading effects caused by scatterers in the environment, are location-specific in the vehicular network. Classical fading models assume a uniform "ring" distribution [5] [66] of scatterers around the transmitter and/or receiver, however V2V channel measurements [20, 61] suggest that the geometry of scatterers in vehicular networks is irregular and environment specific.

Several recent models have attempted to capture the "local geometry" of vehicular environ-

ments [22, 44, 96]. These consider factors such as the width of roads, cars' positions within a road, the presence of intersections, and the type and density of scattering objects along roads. Models parameterized by such information achieve greater accuracy, but introduce the new challenge of discovering or estimating these parameters: Accurate, point-by-point values are impractical to obtain for any reasonably large area, and when "ground truth" parameter values are not available, the accuracy of the channel model will be limited by how well those parameters can be estimated.

We present a realistic vehicular channel simulation model that captures the unique channel features in V2V communication. The models are implemented in a real-time emulation platform, and evaluation results shows significant improvement in modeling accuracy, and achievements of high resource efficiency.

## 4.2 A Realistic V2V Simulation Model

In this section, we describe a realistic model for environment-sensitive channel simulation. We utilize the general architecture for wireless channel simulation and emulation described in Section 2.1 and Figure 2.1. We will describe the functionality of each component, with special focus on models for V2V channels.

## 4.2.1 Channel Model Control in Vehicular Channels

We now discuss the vehicular channel model that we will use throughout this section. The model is suitable for vehicle-to-vehicle communication in an urban/suburban environment, although the methodology we present in the next section is more general, *i.e.* it can be used for other vehicular models and outdoor environments as well.

The specific environment we focus on is an urban/suburban environment with buildings, trees and mobile vehicles on the road. We chose this particular environment because there is growing interest in vehicular networking and it is also a challenging channel model because of the complexity of the environment, and rapid variation in channel conditions.



(d) Doppler Spectrum Measurement from Trace # 100

Figure 4.1: Generate Channel Doppler Spectrum

We will distinguish between two types of reflectors. We observed that in a typical urban/suburban vehicular network, the two primary paths are line of sight (LOS) and reflections off buildings and possibly other objects (*e.g.*trees) lining the street. We will refer to these objects are *large scatterers*. While there may be many other potential large scatterers in the area, their contributions will be minimal since they are effectively hidden behind the buildings lining the street. Besides large reflectors, urban and suburban environments also have many smaller objects visible from the road that can reflect and scatter RF signals, thus contributing to fading. These include smaller structural elements associated with buildings and trees (e.g., balconies, branches, etc.), moving and parked cars, and traffic signs. We will call these objects *small scatterers*.

Since the differences in lengths between the LOS and various reflected paths are relatively small, we only need to model a single resolvable path. This path uses two Doppler spectra: one representing the contribution from LOS, and the other fading from reflections. The Doppler spectrum representing fading needs to model the effects of both large and small scatterers. We will use (a) a geometry-based fading model for large scatterers; and (b) a stochastic fine grained fading model for small scatterers.

To represent the path loss, LOS and fading effects mentioned above, our V2V channel model includes three major components, as shown in the *Channel Model Control* box in Figure 2.1: (a) a large-scale *path loss model*; (b) a V2V *LOS model*; and (c) a small-scale *fading model* that represents time-varying reflection and scattering effects of both large and small scatterers. The output of the LOS model determines the relative contribution ("power factor") of the LOS Doppler spectrum in Figure 3.3, and the combined tap weight is scaled by the path loss value.

We now elaborate on how we model the different components of the channel. We use a standard log-distance model for part (a), large-scale path loss. This model obtains distance information from the World Model in Figure 2.1. In this section, we focus on the accurate modeling of dynamics in the environment and the development of appropriate models for (b) and (c). To illustrate the contribution of the different components to the Doppler spectrum we will use Figure 4.1, which was generated using our implementation (see Section 4.6 for more details). The Doppler spectrum in Figure 4.1(d) is derived from a trace collected in an urban environment, which we use as ground truth [20]. The Doppler spectra in Figures 4.1(a)-(c) were generated using our model, with incrementally more features enabled.

#### V2V Line-of-Sight

Line-of-sight is more than a specialized case of shadowing: When present, it is manifested as an impulse in the Doppler power spectrum. In a V2V environment, the LOS component exists as a

dominant received signal when there are no other objects between communicating vehicles. The V2V LOS model decides whether there exists a LOS component between transmitting vehicle and receiving vehicle. If it exists, a corresponding Doppler spectrum component is included in the simulated channel. The Doppler spectrum for the LOS component is then determined by the relative velocity of the transmitting and receiving vehicles. We can clearly see a LOS component in Figure 4.1(a).

#### **Geometry-Based Fading Models for Stationary Scatterers**

We extends the model proposed in [22], which attempts to capture the small-scale fading effects from reflections off roadside objects. We believe this theoretical model is a suitable fading model for realistic V2V simulation.

## 4.2.2 A Realistic V2V World Model

In the simulation architecture, the *World Model* is a coarse representation of the physical world properties, and a set of rules for translating this information into channel model parameters. Then, time-varying vehicular channels can be created in simulation with parameters inputs that represent desired channel properties.

Vehicular channel models (*e.g.*[22, 44, 96]) require significant information about the environment, much of it specific to the exact locations of the communicating devices. In examining V2V channel measurements, we find that not only do the observed channel conditions vary significantly within the same general environment, but a model using area-averaged parameter values performs significantly worse than the same model with best-estimated location specific values It therefore does not suffice to have a good vehicular channel model: One must also have good knowledge of the environment, or sophisticated approach to generating synthetic environments, to derive realistic channel conditions. This requires accurate estimation of geometry-based model parameters that are location-specific and hard to obtain, especially for large area covered by a vehicular network. We discuss parameter estimation next.

## 4.3 Parameter Analysis

In this section, we focus on how to achieve high accuracy in estimating parameter values for the vehicular channel models described in the previous section.

	Physical World	Signal
		Propagation
		Abstraction
Specific	Topography	Path loss
	Structures	exponent
	Location of	Clear line of
	mobiles	sight (LOS)
	Velocity of	
	mobiles	
Statistical	Vegetation	Rician k-factor
	density	Scatterer
	Traffic on roads	distribution
	Building density	
	Terrain type	

## 4.3.1 Types of Parameters

Table 4.1: Examples of environment attributes / model parameters

The precision with which a channel model models a particular environment depends not only on the sophistication of the model but also on the information of the parameters it uses and the accuracy of the parameters used during the experiment. Generally, channel model parameters can be divided into two major categories: **physical world** parameters that directly represent physical world features, and **signal propagation abstraction** parameters that capture some effect of the physical world without representing the details that give rise to it. For physical world parameters are used, it is up to the model to determine how they impact RF signal propagation, while signal propagation parameters can be applied directly.

Either type can in principle be treated either as **specific** values or **statistical** distributions. Specific values will either be based on observations and measurements of a target environment or will be an average value. A statistical distribution will try to represent the values typically found in a type of environment. Several example parameters are listed in Table 4.1. Which parameters are "best" depends on the goals. One would expect specific parameters to allow more precise control over the channel model than statistical distributions, but collecting the parameters can be expensive. Similarly, physical world parameters seem to provide a more direct way to build a channel model that reflects a specific environment, but many parameters are needed. The results presented later in this section are consistent with this trends.

Next, we describe the traces that we used and we then discuss the parameter set of each specific V2V channel model component, with focus on components highlighted in Figure 4.2.

### 4.3.2 Traces Used in Our Study

A recent measurement of signal-level vehicle-to-vehicle channel provides realistic signal level facts in a suburban area [20]. The measurement took snapshot of the propagation channels at high frequency and generated Doppler spectrum at high frequency. We studied the collected traces and derived parameter values for that environment. During evaluation, we also use the trace as "ground truth" to show how close we can approach the reality while applying improved parameter values in models.

## **4.3.3** Example Parameters in Vehicular Channel Models

There are three major sub-models to the vehicular channel model, as described in § 4.2.1: The line of sight model (§ 4.2.1), the geometry-based fading Model (§ 4.2.1), and the "de-smoothing" of the Doppler spectrum (§ 3.2.2). Each of these sub-models has controllable parameters that can be tuned to reflect the time- and location-specific effects within an environment. We will now

examine each sub-model in details and discuss the parameter set of each model. Additionally, the magnitude of each model's contribution is an environment-specific property which must be modeled as well(§ 4.3.3).



Figure 4.2: Determining parameter values for channel models

#### Line of Sight Doppler Shift

Assuming the vehicles' positions and velocities are being explicitly modeled, the necessary parameters in Equation 3.2.2can be computed geometrically.

Parameter	Notation
Receiver position	$P_{Rx}$
Transmitter position	$P_{Tx}$
Receiver velocity	$ec{v}_{Rx}$
Transmitter velocity	$\vec{v}_{Rx}$

Table 4.2: Parameters of Line of Sight Doppler Model

#### **Geometry-based Fading Doppler Spread**

The geometry-based fading Doppler spectrum describes the *aggregate* signal received by indirect paths reflected by objects in the environment. Here we consider the model described in [22] as an example. Fading effects from road-side scatterers are captured in this model, for two vehicles driving on a straight street, where scatters are road-side trees and buildings. The model's parameters are given in Table 4.3. Other sophisticated V2V channel models such as [44] have very similar parameter sets.

Parameter	Notation
Transmitter (Tx) and receiver (Rx) velocity	$ec{v}_{Tx}, ec{v}_{Rx}$
Distance between Tx and Rx	$d_{tr}$
Density of road-side scatterers	ρ
(Mean) distance from road side to scatterers	$d_{s2e}$
Width of road lanes	$d_{lane}$
Number of lanes "above" (left of) Tx and Rx	$N_a$
Number of lanes "below" (right of) Tx and Rx	$N_b$

Table 4.3: Parameters of Geometrical V2V Model

Of these parameters, "ground truth" data is the least available for the scatterer density  $\rho$ . For a given drive (real or simulated), the other parameters can largely be derived from mobility data and street databases. In their evaluation, the authors of [22] were concerned with reproducing the *shape* of the measured Doppler spectrum, and used a scaling factor (which subsumes  $\rho$ ) to match the model's amplitude with the measured data. Their process to determine a locationspecific scaling factor relies on manual editing (counting), which is not practical for areas with considerable size or variation. We estimate  $\rho$  – along with  $d_{s2e}$  – on a point-by-point basis by the *automated* processing of aerial photographs. This process, which will be described in detail in §4.4, is scalable for large area with variable  $\rho$ .

#### **Model for Small Scatterers**

In § 3.2.2 we observed that the measured Doppler spectrum is ragged while the Doppler spectrum generated by the geo-based fading model is smooth. Analysis of the non-smoothness showed that it is caused by many small "peaks" in the measured Doppler spectrum. The peaks represent strong reflections from small statics and mobile scatterers, i.e., objects with dimensions smaller than those modeled by the geo-based fading model. The spacing between peak locations indicates the spatial distribution pattern of scatterers along the road while their position and movement in the Doppler spectrum is determined by the speed of objects in the environment.

The best way to model the impact of these small scatterers is to develop an appropriate geo-based model that would use information about the their positions to determine the number, location, and weight of the peaks at each time step. To do this correctly would require that the location, shape, and composition of scattering objects be known with extraordinary precision and accuracy. This is impractical for several reasons: First, many scatterers can and do move, meaning that site measurements become out of date almost immediately. Second, even for permanent stationary objects, the best publicly available maps and photographs have resolution and accuracy on the order of 5m, which is several orders of magnitude larger than the minimum relevant feature size.

The resolution of input data fundamentally limits that of the model output, which is therefore in effect a low-pass filtered average of what would be produced by the real environment. Example output is shown in Figure 4.1a. The measured values for the same location (shown in sub-figure 4.1d) show "spiky" variation corresponding to reflections from smaller features. We investigate two alternative methods for "de-smoothing" the envelope to reintroduce such small-scale variation. The first is to filter the spectrum with simple Gaussian noise: We define a random sequence  $X \sim N(0.5, 1)$ , bounded to be between 0 and 1. For each frequency point fin the IDFT output, the original model output  $y_f$  is multiplied by  $X_f$ . Sub-figure 4.1b shows the effect of this approach.

We also define a new "energy-coalescing" de-smoothing function which attempts to replicate the underlying physical process: Intuitively, the model's output over any small frequency range  $[f_{low}, f_{high})$  represents the smoothed average of finer variation which ought to appear within that range. We therefore generate a de-smoothed estimate by *reallocating* energy to peaks at randomly-chosen frequencies. The expected spacing between peaks  $\delta f_{peak}$  is a tunable parameter, which we estimate from the measured traces. The results of this process are show in sub-figure c. Relevant parameters are shown in Table 4.4. Note that these approaches model the *observed* effect at the signal level; we have not yet developed *predictive* models for this variation.

Model	Parameter	Notation
Gaussian	Standard error	$\sigma^2$
Coalescing	Peak component spacing	$\delta f_{peak}$
Coalescing	Peak energy fraction	$p_{peak}$

Table 4.4: Parameters of Scattering Granularity Models

#### **Component Contributions**

The Doppler spreading spectra for both the line of sight and scattered signals contribute to the received signal. While total received power is determined by large-scale path loss, the relative weight (power contribution) among each components need to be configured. The channel effects of each component – tap weight contributions in our realization – must be scaled to represent the magnitude of the channel gain (loss) for each. The range of relative weight can be obtained from measurements in specific environment, and then be applied to simulation of similar scenarios.

For the LOS component, we model these magnitudes as (1) an absolute path loss magnitude, and (2) a relative line-of-sight magnitude. We do not attempt to evaluate path loss models – we are using the same (measured) path loss value with both the modeled and measured fading processes in our evaluation. For fading components, we used the results in the trace study in [20] to determine the relative power ratio for specific vehicular environments. These measured values were then used in all evaluation scenarios.

In §4.4 and §4.5, we describe our novel geometry-based scatterer estimation and LOS status estimation, followed by an evaluation of the accuracy of the model in §4.6.

## 4.4 Geometry-based Scatterer Estimation

As discussed in §4.3, accuracy in density estimation is a critical set of parameters in the V2V fading model [22]. In this section, we will show how this estimation accuracy can be improved systematically.

Rather than use an area or environment-type average as in [22], we estimate point-by-point value along the route(s) of interest. Here we consider two types of scatterer: trees and man-made structures. Some propagation studies have attempted to identify and model every specific object in the region of interest, but this is impractical at the scale of a meaningful vehicular network. We are therefore interested in approximations that can be applied to large areas, using existing publicly-available data, in an automated way.

We explored several alternatives, and were able to achieve the best accuracy by extracting relevant features from aerial photographs. While the availability and quality of imagery varies by region, 1m x 1m *digital aerial orthophotography* is available for most of the United States [3]. Using established *spectral signature* criteria [13], the type of land cover in each pixel can be estimated.

## 4.4.1 Estimate Land Cover Type

Ditigal aerial image provides 3-channel(RGB) color reflection of a given area. Both pixel-based and object-based methodologies have been developed to estimate the type of land based on its digital aerial image. According to [13], pixel-based methods are applied first to distinguish lands covered with vegetation. Then, different object-based methods are utilized to identify objects and other constructions within each group. We'll briefly describe how we apply the process in our case.

#### **Vegetation Type**

In general, lands covered with vegetation show strong reflection in channel Green. Using the PCA analysis, a pixel is identified as type of vegetation based on relative value among the 3 channels:  $(G^3 - R^3)^{1/3}$ . For all pixels labeled as vegetation, we further distinguish tree pixels

from grass pixels. (This is because only trees are regarded as roadside scatterers in our estimation.) Since there exists higher fluctuation of reflection (in channel G) among adjacent tree pixels, using variation of channel-G response within a small window will help to differentiate tree pixels from grass pixels.

#### **Road and Other Constructions**

For pixels identified as non-vegetation, we use the object-based method described in [13] to distinguish roads and buildings. Since we only use the aerial image, elevation data is not considered in the process. The basic idea is to expand continuous pixels along the road, while building pixels have borders. We also assign an 'other' type for the rest pixels, which usually include land covered with water.

Figure 4.3 shows an example classification map generated for central Pittsburgh. The location and density of roadside scatters and road (lane) dimensions can be estimated from the land cover classification results, combined with explicit road information from U.S. Census data [85]. For any given road segment, the scatterer distribution model calculates roadside scatterer (building and trees) density.

## 4.4.2 Calculate Scatterer Density

Roadside scatterer density is estimated by counting the density of tree pixels and building pixels along the road.

#### **Identify roadside pixels**

For pixels labeled as road, we generate a road buffer of 50m wide on both sides of the road. Only pixels fall in the road buffer are considered as road-side pixels.

#### Estimate roadside scatterer density

Among all road-side pixels, we only consider tree pixels and building pixels in scatterers estimation. For the area we are studying, the best aerial maps available are from National Agricultural Imagery Program [3], The most recent photographs in this area are 4-band (RGB plus infrared), with an absolute position accuracy of  $\pm 6m$ . Therefore, we use a 10m x 10m mask to estimate scatterer density for each position.

The accuracy of mapping is limited by image quality and classification algorithms. However, this general approach proves effective in practice, and accuracy can be improved with better inputs. Although the processing time for a large area is significant, it can be done off-line and needs to performed only once.



Figure 4.3: Classified Map

Considering the fact that locations of building and trees are stationary in general, the calculation is performed off-line for any given area of interest. At run time, exact scatterer density along the route (at given locations) can be obtained quickly by a simple table (map) lookup.


Figure 4.4: Roadside Scatterer Density

Figure 4.4 shows sample roadside scatterer densities generated for a given route. Using these estimates, fading models can generate more realistic location-specific Doppler spectrum. The benefits are shown in the evaluation part (§4.6), when comparing against fixed parameter values.

# 4.5 V2V Line-Of-Sight Estimation

In this section, we introduce a trace measurement-driven method of estimating V2V LOS status for the *V2V Line-Of-Sight module* (4.2.1).

The *Line-Of-Sight path* between two vehicles varies (appears or disappears) over time, especially when vehicles frequently switch lanes and/or merge lanes. In principle, the exact LOS status could be determined geometrically by modeling the dimensions and behavior of every object in the area that could block the LOS path. This explicit modeling approach will not be practical without adequate information of all objects in that area. Instead, we use a trace measurement-driven approach that can estimate the *LOS path status*.

We first studied the statistical pattern of LOS status in the channel measurement traces

from [20]. A trace (1.5s window) is labeled as LOS-evident if: (a) There exists one frequency component (or a small number of a frequency components) having dramatically greater magnitude than all other frequency components, and (b) there exists a single frequency component accounting for a large fraction of the total received power. Figure 4.5 shows that these criteria largely agree with each other.



(b) "Zoom in" on low-peak-count data

Figure 4.5: Detect Dominant Components (LOS)

Figure 4.5 shows the pattern extracted from traces, with each data point represents one trace. For each trace, we count the number of dominant frequency components (peak counts) as well as corresponding power contributed compared to total power (power ratio).

Notice that traces with high peak counts essentially have large numbers of comparable frequency components, which indicates no dominant components among all. The figure shows that: a) traces with high dominant power ratio have low peak counts (mostly fewer than 10); and b) traces with low peak counts have higher dominant power contribution (mostly higher than 0.1). This observation matches with properties of dominant components (LOS). Therefore, we use both power ratio and peak counts to label traces as LOS-evident as described above.

Following [2], the V2V LOS status can be modeled using a two-state Markov model. The LOS transition behavior is represented by two configurable parameters: 1)  $t_{NLOS}$ : the average duration of *NLOS* period; and 2) $p_{block}$ : the probability of losing LOS per unit time. These are first estimated to fit the line-of-sight pattern identified in real traces, and then the Markov model transition probabilities are derived from those parameters.

From measurement traces, consecutive samples of LOS components represent a long LOS duration, with gaps in between indicating NLOS periods. We determine the typical value and range of  $t_{LOS}$  and  $t_{NLOS}$  by averaging the length of continuous LOS segments, and gaps between these segments. The probability of  $p_{block}$  is estimated by calculating the percentage of samples that are not labeled as LOS-evident.

Although the parameter values estimated from traces are specific this location and time, the same approach could be applied to measurements from other V2V or V2I environments. It possible that representative values exist for generally similar environments, but this has not been tested.

## 4.6 Evaluation

We evaluate the accuracy of our fading model at two different levels. First we evaluate how well the channel model matches the measured channel at the signal level. The signal-level channel "closeness" is measured by the Doppler spectrum similarity. Second we use 802.11 link-layer

measurements to compare the modeled and measured channel at the link level. Our metric is packet delivery ration (PDR). At the channel level, our proposed location-specific model has less than half the error of an area-average model. At the packet level, the location-specific model has less than  $\frac{1}{4}$  the error.

#### 4.6.1 Wireless Network Emulator

Our packet-level experiments are implemented on the next-generation prototype of the CMU Wireless Network Emulator [89] in the 2.4GHz ISM band. The architecture is shown in Figure 4.6: Each transmitter's signal is converted to baseband and digitized in the input side of the emulator. The digital signals are filtered through a tapped-delay line FIR filter to produce both attenuation and delay, including fading and resolvable multipath effects (see Figure 3.1). This real-time per-sample signal processing is performed in the FPGA. The number of taps, their weights, and the delays between taps are controlled by software running on a general-purpose computer (see Figure 3.3). In general, every attached radio is both a transmitter and receiver, and a distinct channel is emulated for every transmitter-receiver pair. For the purposes of these experiments, the emulator is configured with a single, unidirectional, one tap channel between the transmitter and the receiver.



Figure 4.6: Overall Emulator Architecture

## 4.6.2 Doppler Spectrum Similarity

To evaluate the accuracy of our fading models and the impact of using detailed environmentspecific parameters, we compare the difference between two modeled fading spectra and the real measured spectrum. We consider 889 measurements collected for [20], where each measurement includes GPS-derived position and velocity for the mobiles, and the Doppler spectrum for a 1.5s narrow-band continuous-wave measurement. We label these spectra  $M_{i \ i:\in(1,889)}$ . For each such point, two modeled Doppler spectra are computed: The first is a baseline estimate  $D_i$ , which uses the real (instantaneous, location-specific) values for position and velocity, but a fixed *area average* value for  $\rho$ . This essentially matches the model as described in [22]. We also compute a location-specific spectrum  $E_i$ , which again uses the real position and velocity information, but also incorporates the estimated point-specific  $\rho$  values. For other configurable parameters  $d_{s2e}, d_{lane}, N_a, N_b$ , we apply the same observed values in [20] because the road dimensions does not vary much within the area where the measurement data were collected.

For each *i*, the accuracy of  $D_i$  and  $E_i$  is computed as the *Kullback-Leibler divergence* [48] relative to  $M_i$ <sup>1</sup>. Note that K-L divergence was developed as a measure of similarity between probability density functions. We are applying the technique to the more general problem of comparing functions which are not probability densities; this approach was introduced by [32]. This use of the K-L divergence metric lacks the precise information-theoretic meaning of the original, but still provides an intuitively-reasonable measure of difference. For the K-L divergence to be well-defined, the two functions need to "look like" probability distributions. Therefore, if the frequency sample points are denoted as  $f_j$ , we normalize each Doppler spectrum *e.g.*  $E_i$  to  $E'_i = \frac{E_i}{s}$  for  $s = (\sum_{f_j} E_i(f_j))^{-1}$ . This normalization discards the total received power *s*, leaving only the difference in shape. Finally, the K-L divergence of two spectra is then defined as:

$$d_{KL}(E_i||M_i) = \sum_j E'_i(f_j) \ln \frac{E'_i(f_j)}{M'_i(f_j)}$$
(4.1)

and  $d_{KL}(D_i||M_i)$  is defined similarly. The K-L divergence is 0 when two (normalized) spectra

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Notice that  $D_1 - _{889}$  and  $E_1 - _{889}$  are basic fading envelopes. Therefore, we applied a smoothing window of 100 Hz on the measured spectrum and use the result as the fading spectrum envelope  $M_1 - _{889}$ .

are identical, and increases as the point-wise values differ.

The spectrum similarities  $d_{KL}(D_i||M_i)$  and  $d_{KL}(E_i||M_i)$  along a measured route are shown in Figure 4.7. Figure 4.8 shows empirical CDF (cumulative distribution function) of the spectrum divergence for the two estimation methods.



Figure 4.7: Spectrum Similarity Comparison on Map



Figure 4.8: Spectrum Similarity Comparison (CDF)

The location-specific estimates are significantly better than the area-average: The median error (K-L divergence) of the  $E_i$  is **36%** that of the  $D_i$  (0.14 vs. 0.39). The  $E_i$  curve is always better (left of) the  $D_i$  curve, with a Kolmogorov-Smirnof statistic of 0.37.

#### 4.6.3 Link Layer Comparison

While the Doppler spectrum is interesting in itself, for many purposes the pressing question is "how does this fading pattern impact communication?" We show that, for real 802.11a radios using **BPSK with half rate** over a range of path loss values, the location-specific fading model produces packet error rates (PER) significantly closer to reality than the area-average model.

This experiment was conducted as follows: Two 802.11a nodes were placed in RF-shielded test enclosures, with one antenna port on each node's wireless NIC connected to the channel emulator described in § 4.6.1. A unidirectional channel was configured from the transmitter to the receiver. For each measurement point *i*, a large-scale *path loss model* generates its corresponding path loss value based on the Tx-Rx distance<sup>2</sup>. The same path loss value (for measurement point *i*) was combined with each of the small-scale fading Doppler spectra  $M_i$ ,  $D_i$ , and  $E_i$ , respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The channel measurements collected do not allow us to reconstruct the path loss at each measurement point. The path loss values used are therefore not necessarily correct, but they are credible and most importantly do not vary between Doppler spectra at each point.

For each spectrum, the resultant tap weights were used to produce a single-tap channel. For each point i and fading spectrum, the transmitter broadcast 2000 packets over a 20-second window, which were logged by the receiver. The PER was then calculated for each experiment.



Figure 4.9: Link Level Comparison

The measured packet delivery ratio results is shown in Figure 4.9. The red (+) line in this figure is the reference data set: the PDR results using measured Doppler spectra  $M_i$ . The green (x) line shows the results using area-average  $\rho$  (spectra  $D_i$ ), and the blue (\*) line show the results using location-specific  $\rho$  (spectra  $E_i$ ). We observe that path loss is the dominant factor in determining PDR, and that the location-specific fading channel approximates the measured values more closely than the area-average model. Over all points *i*, the location-specific model and area-average model have mean squared errors of **0.034** and **0.158**, respectively. The error of the improved model is less than  $\frac{1}{4}$  that of the baseline.

## 4.7 **Run-time Complexity**

In this section, we first explain run-time challenges in simulating vehicular channels with high dynamics. Then, we introduce several optimizations that improve real-time simulation efficiency. A prototype of the simulation model from Figure 2.1 has been implemented on the Wireless Network Emulator [42]. The channel models are implemented as Java software on a general-purpose computer. The performance evaluation in this section is from this prototype.

#### 4.7.1 Channel Updates Calculation

During simulated experiments, the dynamics of a given channel are implemented by changing the weights in a tapped delay line to represent its time-varying channel properties. These weight changes (channel updates) must be produced several times per channel coherence time. Rather than stepping a time-domain channel model in real time, we produce these update from pre-generated "fading tables" as described in [89]. There are therefore two computationally important tasks: Generating a channel update from given fading tables, and generating new fading tables. The first must happen very frequently ( $O(1/T_c)$  for *every* channel) and must therefore be quite simple. The second is computationally much more expensive and must occur much less often; minimizing such computations is the subject of the rest of this section.

Fading tables are generated from frequency domain Doppler spectrum through IDFT computation. The Doppler spectrum of a realistic V2V channel is not static: when parameter value changes as vehicles move, the fading spectrum (and fading tables) needs to be re-computed to implement the changes. For example, in the geometry-based fading model [22], any change of status (parameters in 4.3) leads to a different spectrum. With high dynamics in V2V channels, constant re-calculation of spectrum and fading tables can exhaust the limited computational resources for real-time simulation.

To reduce run-time fading table calculation, we utilize the following observations:

- 1. If the same (or similar enough) sets of parameters occur regularly, fading tables can be cached for re-use (on-line solution).
- 2. If parameter values are available ahead of time, spectrum and fading tables can be gener-

ated beforehand (off-line solution).

Next, we describe our hybrid solution that combines both off-line preparation and run-time optimization. The following discussion are based on the fading model in §4.2.1.

#### 4.7.2 Real-Time Constraint

The three primary timing constraints for real-time channel simulation and emulation are the sample time  $T_{samp}$ , the channel coherence time  $T_c$ , and the stationarity time  $T_{stat}$ :  $T_{samp} \ll T_c \ll T_{stat}$ . Typical values for these limits are shown in Table 4.5.

Time	Typical Value	Required Action
$T_{samp}$	5ns	Multiply samples by tap weights.
$T_c$	$\approx 50 \mu s$	Update tap weights $k$ times.
$T_{stat}$	$\approx 20 \mathrm{ms}$	Update channel model.

Table 4.5: Time constraints

 $T_{samp}$  is based on a 100MHz real baseband channel, sampled at the Nyquist rate. In our architecture, sample-rate processing is done on an FPGA [89]. Here we addresses only the software processing which is bound by  $T_c$  and  $T_{stat}$ . Updating tap weights in discrete steps means approximating the continuous smooth variation of the channel as a step function or linear interpolation. Numerical evaluation in [30] shows that a linear interpolation with time steps of  $T_c/40$  is functionally indistinguishable from the smooth curve; we have used steps as slow as  $T_c/4$  with no noticeable degradation.

Reasonable estimates of  $T_c$  range from a theoretical worst case of 23µs for vehicles at 300km/h and 5.9GHz to a least measured value of 260µs [82]. The term *stationarity time* and our estimated value come from [10]; their measured minimum value is 19.6ms, with 5%  $T_{stat}$  values ranging from 70ms to 924ms.

Producing tap weight updates from an *existing* fading table is a relatively light-weight operation. Our current, un-optimized implementation requires  $\approx 3\mu s$  per tap on a single processor

core [89]. We would like to improve that in order to support larger networks with shorter coherence times, however that is orthogonal to the choice of channel model and will therefore not be considered further here. The geometrical V2V channel model we considered here differs from the ones considered in 3 in that it can produce a wide range of Doppler spectrum shapes, and no single fading table or small set of tables can represent all of them. It is therefore possible that a new fading table must computed at run time. The remainder of this section addresses the computational cost of doing so.

#### 4.7.3 Channel Model Update Cost

First, we consider the time required to update a single one-path channel. As mentioned in §4.7.1, the most time-consuming processes during channel updates are (a) generating the fading Doppler spectrum, and (b) performing an IDFT to obtain a fading table. Next, we analyze the computation complexity of (a) and (b), using the geometry-based fading model, followed by measurement results.

#### **Frequency-Domain Spectrum Generation**

In (a), the geometry-based fading model divides the whole space into N small cones (sections), where N is a design variable. For each cone, scatterer density is estimated, and corresponding Doppler spectrum component is calculated. The per-cone computation requires essentially constant time. Thus, the overall calculation complexity is O(N). Note that the number of cones N is naturally related to the spatial resolution of the input data as small cones correspond to higher angular resolution.

#### IDFT

Frequency domain interpolation regulates the spectrum to include a fixed number of samples, equally spaced in the maximum Doppler shift range. In (b), a fixed-point IDFT translates the spectrum to a fading table. In this case, the time cost of IDFT is a fixed cost, and independent of N.



Figure 4.10: Finest reasonable angular resolution



Figure 4.11: Time to generate an *N*-cone fading table.

We measured the time cost of step (a) and (a) + (b). The measurement was performed on a desktop computer, using one core of an Intel 3.80GHz Xeon processor. The time cost is averaged

over 1000 trials.

As shown in Figure 4.11, with a small number of cones ( $N \le 2^9$  or 512), the total time cost for spectrum calculation is relatively stable ( $\approx 1$ ms). In addition, the difference between two curves (with small *N*) confirms a stable time cost of IDFT operation (about 0.5ms). With large *N*, the overall cost trend is linear as dominated by O(N).

For a single one-tap channel, the cost of computing a new fading table exceeds  $T_c$ , but is below the bound of  $T_{stat}$ . However, as network grows to n cars (or n antennas), the number of channels grows as  $O(n^2)$ . If a new fading table must be computed for every channel every  $T_{stat}$ , n is severely limited.

### 4.7.4 Re-usable Fading Table

Some simple Doppler spectra (*e.g.* Jakes') have the nice property that *all* spectra in the family can be generated from one another by scaling the amplitude and frequency [89]. This is unfortunately not true of the vehicular channel from §4.2.1. Table 4.6 classifies the fading model parameters by their effect on the Doppler spectrum and rate of change. Crucially, the parameters  $V_{Tx}$  and  $V_{Rx}$  are rapidly-varying and effect the shape of the Doppler spectrum.

Parameter	Variation	Scales Spectrum
$v_{Tx}$	slow - fast	×
$v_{Rx}$	slow - fast	×
ρ	static	×
$v_{Tx}$	slow - fast	$\checkmark$
$\frac{v_{Rx}}{v_{Tx}}$	slow - fast	×
constant $\rho$	no change	$\checkmark$
$d_{s2e}, d_{lane}$	slow	X
$N_a, N_b$	slow	×

Table 4.6: Scaling Factors in Parameters

The situation can be improved somewhat: The shape of the Doppler spectrum depends only on the *ratio*  $V_{Rx}$  and  $V_{Tx}$ , not on the *magnitude* of either velocity. Rewriting the Doppler spectrum model in terms of the ratio  $\frac{v_{Rx}}{v_{Tx}}$  and one free magnitude (arbitrarily  $V_{Tx}$ ) therefore eliminates one "shape-effecting" parameter.

In Table 4.6, parameters in the first group are original listed in [22]. The second group shows the situation after re-formulation. Parameters in the third group vary slowly over time and can be regarded as constant during a limited amount of time. As described in [89], a fading table can be re-used for different values of spectrum-scaling parameters so long as the shape-effecting ones remain the same.

#### 4.7.5 Off-line Preparation

While re-usable tables help to improve run-time efficiency, calculation of new fading tables is unavoidable when shape-effecting parameters change. This may happen continuously when vehicles move.

The goal of off-line preparation is to avoid run-time calculation of new fading tables by pregeneration of various type of fading tables with given parameter values. We start with a fixed scatterer density of  $\rho$ , and handle spatial variation of  $\rho$  at the end of the section.

Although the exact value of a set of parameter are not available at any moment, one can estimate the range of each parameter in Table 4.6. For example, typical driving speed is between 20 mph to 30 mph in a suburban area. In most car-following scenario, speed ratio is often close to 1. The average distance of  $d_{e2s}$  is between 6 to 10m. Fading tables generated using these parameter values will be utilized with higher probability during run-time simulation.

Table 4.7 shows a set of typical values selected for typical suburban vehicular channels. The transmitter speed  $v_{Tx}$  and scatterer density  $\rho$  are applied at run-time to scale the spectrum (fading tables). The size of the parameter space is exponential in the number of parameters, but only  $O(n^4)$  in the number of *discrete* values per parameter. It is therefore feasible to quantize these parameters and pre-compute Doppler spectra for all parameter combinations. For the discrete values in Table 4.7, there are 2,700 ( $20 \times 5 \times 3 \times 9$ ) such combinations. The fading table representation of each Doppler spectrum requires 64kB memory, for a total of 172.8MB. At run-

time, actual parameter values can be rounded to quantization points. As long as actual parameter values fall in the estimated range, no run-time fading table generation is required, at the cost of some quantization error.

Parameter	Min	Max	Values	# of Values
$rac{v_{Rx}}{v_{Tx}}$	0.1	10	0, 0.1,, 0.9, 1, 2,,10	20
$d_{s2e}$ (m)	6	10	6, 7, 8, 9, 10	5
$d_{lane}$ (m)	3	5	3,4,5	3
$N_a, N_b$ (m)	0	2	0,1,2	$3 \times 3 = 9$

Table 4.7: Typical shape-effecting parameter values

Variable Scatterer Density: When  $\rho$  varies over space, similar approaches can be applied. The set of angular intervals  $\{[\theta_i, \theta_i + d\theta) | i \in 1, ..., N\}$  partitions space around the receiving vehicle into N cones. Crucially, the Doppler spectrum received over the entire set of cones is simply the sum of independently-computed responses for each cone [23, eqs. (7)–(11)]. We can therefore scale each cone's spectrum by its  $\rho_i$  before summing the cones' spectra. We fix  $N = 2^9$  for our experiments, giving an angular resolution  $d\theta = \frac{2\pi}{2^9}$ . Increasing N improves spectrum accuracy up to the limit imposed by the spatial resolution of the input data, as described in § 4.7.3.

As discussed in [89], table-based off-line preparation is computationally efficient. Such preparation relies on prediction of vehicle behaviors and model/parameter. In simulation, some of these parameters are configured explicitly by users, while others are generated during simulation (*e.g.* from mobility model) and may not be available beforehand.

Therefore, a careful study of the simulated area and mobile behaviors is critical for realtime V2V channel simulation. During off-line preparation, we utilized aerial photos to examine scattering properties, and vehicle traces are studied to obtain speed and location information. For other environment/scenario, the same approach still applies in helping prediction of parameter ranges for off-line preparation.

# 4.8 Summary

Realistic simulation of high dynamic wireless channels requires not only realistic channel simulation models but accurate parameter values as well to approximate dynamics in surrounding environments with high realism.

In this chapter, we first introduced simulation channel model control for vehicular networks in §4.2. We narrowed down the discussion on the most challenge environments with high dynamics: the vehicle-to-vehicle fading channels and LOS components. We discussed parameters for simulation models in §4.3 and provide an example specifically for vehicular channels. Next, we described our novel scatterer estimation approach and V2V line-of-sight estimation process in §4.4 and §4.5. We introduced our practical and efficient way for extracting critical parameters from realistic environments.

§4.6 presents an evaluation of the accuracy of our channel modeling approach. We show that for a given channel model the use of area-average parameter values results in a significant loss of accuracy relative to point-by-point values. In addition, we show that by indirectly estimating those values from readily-available data, much of that accuracy can be regained.

Lastly, we presented the computational complexity of our models in §4.7.

## 4.8.1 Generalization of Approach

Our evaluation focuses on parameterizing the V2V fading model from [22], but the approach is meant to generalize to other channels and models which depend heavily on local features of the environment.

In any outdoor environment, the fading properties of wireless channels are strongly influenced by the stationary and mobile objects in the environment. When modeling such effects, accurate estimation of location, dimension, and density of such objects is needed to achieve high modeling accuracy. Geometric modeling of each object helps to provide an accurate description of each item. However, when modeling an environment with a huge number of objects, estimating densities is a more practical approach that suffices. Our approach of using imaging processing and additional road information would dramatically improve the accuracy and efficiency in such estimation. Arial map and road information data could be used for rural and densely populated areas, while terrain data that includes elevation information would be needed for open areas with hills.

For indoor environments, the wireless channel dynamics is also affected by geometric distributions of objects in the surrounding area. Although arial maps are not applicable to indoor object identification, using corresponding information, in this case floor plans and room descriptions to infer furniture density and layout, would also help to improve estimation accuracy.

The generalization of our proposed solution is to utilize available information and perform efficient and systematic processing so that we can obtain higher level abstraction of detailed object density, location, and mobility information with high accuracy.

# Chapter 5

# **Cross-Link (Spatial) Correlation Models**

Wireless channels are defined by the presence and motion of objects between and around the communicating stations. As parts of the environment change, so do the channels experienced by nearby stations. The common models in current use often do not consider the spatial locality of most channel effects: Except for correlated fading in MIMO models for nearby antennas, it is typical to model channels or links with *mutually-independently* random processes.

In this chapter, we evaluate the effects of that assumption of independence in the context of vehicular multi-hop networks. We first look in depth at how to model spatial correlation for links for different types of channel properties and models, using vehicular channels as an example. Then we compare independent stochastic, locally cross-correlated stochastic, and explicitly geometric models in terms of the application-level performance they induce. Specifically, we present our evaluation of how the choice of model impacts the performance of a gossip protocol. In addition, we compare the complexity of the different modeling options. We show that while explicitly modeling correlation for stochastic channel properties can improve realism, the complexity increases quickly with modeling additional correlated properties.

## 5.1 Background

The properties of wireless links are highly dynamic because the signal propagation environment changes as a result of movement in the environment. The performance of many wireless network

protocols and applications is sensitive to changes in wireless channel (*e.g.*, signal strength) and consequently link (*e.g.*, packet delivery rates, bandwidth) properties. Examples are transmit rate adaptation, TCP window size, and video bit rate adaptation. In a mobile environment with multiple wireless links, the changes of nearby links are not independent for the simple reason that the links share the same physical environment. Movement by objects, for example, is likely to impact all nearby links, although the precise nature of the impact will differ. We will refer to this phenomenon as spatial correlation across wireless links.

Some protocols and applications are not only sensitive to changes in the properties of individual links, but also to how these changes are correlated across multiple links. Examples include routing protocols that adapt to quality of the links in multi-hop wireless network [27, 40] or protocols that rely on opportunistic overhearing of packets [50]. In order to evaluate these protocols, simulators not only need to accurately model the channel or link dynamics of individual links, but they also need to properly model the correlation of these properties across nearby links. When such correlation is not accounted for (as is typically the case), the diversity of adjacent links is often over-estimated, which can easily lead to incorrect results, i.e., the benefits or drawbacks of specific techniques observed in simulation may differ significantly from those obtained in the real world.

Models for the properties of individual channels can be broadly classified in two categories. A first approach is to model relevant components of the physical space explicitly, and to directly derive the corresponding link properties. Examples include the ITS Irregular Terrain Model point-to-point mode for path loss [38] or computational electrodynamics for small-scale fading. The drawback of this approach is that the model inputs (and possibly the model itself) describe only a specific environment and that collecting the input for the model can be time consuming. As a result, people have develop stochastic models that directly generate the desired channel property, *e.g.* log-normal shadowing, Rayleigh, Rician and Nakagami fading. [56, 75]. Such models can often be used to represent many very different environments with a simple parameter change (*e.g.* a different *K* factor or maximum Doppler shift), or multiple instances of a similar environment with a change of random seed. However, precisely *because* they don't require a comprehensive description of the environment, the similarity (or dissimilarity) between channels

in the same environment tends not to be captured.

On the other hand, the spatial correlation of wireless properties among adjacent links have been frequently observed in wireless networks. Some measurement study specifically quantified the level of correlation versus distance in urban and suburban area [60], while others studies the correlated shadowing effects in multi-hop networks [4] and vehicular network [16]. Studies have shown the correlation in shadowing effects has significant impact on wireless protocol performance [81], specifically in vehicular networks [14]. Moreover, such correlation can even be utilized in discovery [49] and geographic gapping [67].

Although different types of stochastic correlated models [60] [37] have been proposed for wireless channels, these models are not present in most wireless simulation platforms such as [57] and [70]. When evaluating adaptive protocols (such as PRO[50]) that are sensitive to spatial correlation, the spatial diversity, which is essentially the opposite side of correlation, could be mis-represented.

# 5.2 Channel Dynamics and Network Adaptation

Channel dynamics on multiple time scales can result in radically different channels that may require adaptation by the protocols at all layers of the protocol stack. Examples include changes in coding and modulation at the physical layer; different routing, coding, and retransmission strategies at the MAC and network layer; different congestion control solutions at the transport layer; and application level strategies to optimize quality of experience given available bandwidth at the application layer. These protocols adapt to their environment to optimize performance, and increasingly the adaptation is 'cognitive' in the sense that the protocols collect information about the environment and make explicit decisions about how to best adapt, as discussed in Section § 1.1.

In wireless networks, most adaptive behavior targets the optimization of individual links, e.g., transmit rate adaptation. To properly evaluate such optimizations, it is sufficient that accurate channel models are used and that their inputs are set and changed in a way that reflects the target physical environment. However, for the evaluation of protocols that deal specifically with

topology (e.g., routing) or that try to leverage spatial diversity or correlation, simulators will have to accurately model the spatial properties affecting the protocols. We consider specific examples in the context of vehicular networks.



Figure 5.1: Examples of Spatial Correlation across Links

#### **Challenges in Simulation Realism of Vehicular Networks**

Vehicular networks are challenging because of the high degree of mobility and rich channel dynamics. We now look at some examples of spatial correlation between vehicular channels, considering fading, path loss, and line-of-sight (LOS) channel properties.

Figure 5.1(a) shows two wireless channels in close proximity on a road segment. Since the two channels are in the same environment, their properties are affected by similar reflectors and mobility effects, resulting in similar fading properties. Figures 5.1(b) and (c) are cases with channels partially overlapping. We again expect fading properties to be similar, but LOS properties are much more tightly coupled. Figure 5.1(d) shows and example an intersection, where nearby channels may have similar LOS properties due to blockage by buildings.

It can be difficult to predict how specific types of spatial correlation affect various adaptive protocols, and it becomes more difficult as the protocol becomes more sophisticated and more links are involved. As a very simple example, let us consider PRO, a Protocol for Retransmitting

Opportunistically [50]. In PRO, if a transmission from a transmitter A to a receiver B fails, a relay node R can retransmit the packet on behalf of A, if it overheard the packet and has a better channel to B than A. This has been shown to offer the biggest benefit in environments with significant fading or shadowing, which is not surprising since PRO leverages spatial diversity between channels A-R and A-B.

Let us now consider how PRO may perform in some of the examples shown in Figure 5.1. Even if the three channels between A, B, and a potential relay R have LOS, we would expect PRO to benefits because of the high degree of fading. If relays experience LOS obstruction independent of (or negatively correlated with) the A-B link, the relative benefit of PRO should increase. However, if the same buildings (Figure 5.1(d)) or cars (Figure 5.1(b)) block both the A-B link and A-R links, the relays will be of little use and the benefit of PRO will be less.

# **5.3 Modeling Channel Dynamics**



Figure 5.2: Channel Properties/Models at different time scales

This section presents an overview of the different types of models that can be used to model various channel properties. We also introduce an example stochastic channel model for LOS blocking.

## 5.3.1 Types of Channel Models

Both the instantaneous channel properties and the dynamics depend are determined by the presence and movement of the many objects in a typical environment, and it is generally not practically to exactly compute the instantaneous channel response, let alone its evolution over time. A common approach is therefore to maintain a simplified view of the objects in an environment, and then to introduce stochastic models for the effects which cannot be realistically computed from that view.

Channel model typically consists of multiple components that model different channel properties, often happening on different time scales. Figure 5.2 shows an example: properties include large-scale path-loss, shadowing due to objects in the line-of-sight, and small scale fading. These models can be classified according to a couple of properties.

First, the **model** can be completely generic, or be designed for a specific environment. Second, the inputs can be environment-specific or output-matched. Environment-specific inputs are based on observations or measurements of a specific (real or artificially generated) environment (e.g., density, location, and speed of objects). In contrast, output-matched parameters do not necessarily reflect a specific properties of an environment, but they are chosen so the model output will have the desired properties, i.e., it roughly matches channel measurements.

The third model property relates directly to how dynamics are models and it falls between two extremes. First, in a purely **deterministic** model (e.g. typical for path loss) the dynamics of the output (e.g. loss) follow directly from variation in the input (e.g. distance between transmitter and receiver), or else they are not captured at all.

In this case, obtaining realistic channel dynamics requires varying the input parameters, which typically implies having detailed environment-specific inputs. At the other end, dynamics can be entirely internal to the model (e.g. typical fading models): The model is a random process with prescribed temporal behavior (e.g. autocorrelation). The underlying physical events (the positions of the objects whose motion is causing the fading) are not represented, so spatial correlation will typically not be captured. Between the two extremes, a stochastic model may have some environment-specific inputs, and if those change together across "independent" channels, there may be some covariance.

These properties define a large design space. Models for properties that are coarse and change slowly, e.g., path loss, tend to use deterministic models with mostly environment-specific inputs. We will refer to these models as **geometric** models. Models for more fine-grain properties that can change quickly, e.g., fading, or are hard to model, e.g., large numbers of small objects, tend to use models that are inherently **stochastic**. Some properties can however modeled either way. Examples include LOS blocking (shadowing), random packet loss, etc.

As a concrete example, [43] describes a set of models for properties of vehicular channels. It uses a geometric model for path-loss, and stochastic models for LOS blocking and scattering by small objects. The model for fading caused by large objects is an environment-specific stochastic model with environment-specific inputs.

The focus of this section is on modeling link correlation for both geometric and stochastic channel properties. To make the discussion more specific, we will use models for LOS blocking as an example.

#### 5.3.2 Modeling Shadowing and Line of Sight

Shadowing is reduction in signal strength caused by obstructions which absorb incident energy or reflect it away from the shadowed area. Shadowing occurs when obstructing objects – stationary or mobile – impinge significantly on the Fresnel zone around the dominant propagation path. Treating shadowing as a binary condition (Line-Of-Sight vs. Non-Line-Of-Sight) is a substantial simplification, but it's probably not unreasonable at higher frequencies [53]. The LOS/NLOS status of a path can be estimated geometrically [15] or with measurement-driven stochastic models [2].

Here, we briefly introduce a typical stochastic shadowing model (2-state Markov shadowing model) based on [2], and shown in Figure 5.3. Two shadowing link states (LOS and NLOS) are considered in the model. The transition probabilities are  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ . At initialization, each link randomly selects a starting state. For each state, the probability distribution over possible subsequent states is realized as a discrete random variable. Because each state in this model has only two possible next states, the discrete "next state" distributions are implemented as random variables r with a continuous distribution and a cutoff threshold. For example, if

 $current\_state = LOS, next\_state is NLOS iff r_i <= p1.$ 



Figure 5.3: Two-state Markov Shadowing Model

# 5.4 Correlated Channel Models

In this section, we look at spatial correlation for channels that are modeled geometrically and stochastically. We will use the LOS property as a running example.

#### 5.4.1 Geometric Models

For geometric models, the calculated channel properties are completely determined by input (environment details). Assuming consistent information about the environment is used to model all links in the simulation, spatial correlation between links will automatically be captured. In the LOS case, if the same information about the location and size of physical objects (cars, buildings) is used consistently throughout the simulation, all the different examples of spatial correlation shown in Figure 5.1 will be captured.

To validate this claim, we looked at the spatial correlation observed in a simulation using the geometric LOS model described in § 5.5.3. Figure 5.4 shows the *observed* agreement between links' LOS states as a function of the distance between them. These are calculated over 20 second intervals so that the two pairs of cars positions relative to each other do not change too much within a single data point. Short time spans mean that relatively few transitions occur on each link per interval, so the observed variance is relatively inaccurate. Consequently we use simple agreement (what fraction of the time both links have the same LOS status) rather than correlation as a similarity metric. Linear fits are plotted for three distance ranges: 0 to 50m, 0 to

100m, and 0 to 500m For the first two, there is a statistically-significant relationship (p < 0.001) with slopes of -0.004; -0.0001/m respectively.



Figure 5.4: Probability of LOS state agreement as a function of distance, geometric model.

## 5.4.2 Statistical Models

For statistical models, there is no explicit information on correlated physical world impacts. In addition, the independent random process associated with each link introduces additional isolation among multiple channels. In order to have realistic inter-channel correlation, it must be modeled explicitly. This implies (a) determining the expected correlation properties among channels, and (b) applying this correlation to (time-series) models while maintaining their statistical properties. The approach which we explore here is to enforce correlation across the random variables which are implicit *inputs* to stochastic models. The most straightforward stochastic models consist of a random variable which is filtered to produce the desired output distribution and autocorrelation; many fading model implementations work this way. In that case, the desired correlation of model *outputs* can be directly achieved by correlating the input random variables, possibly with some adjustment for the filtering. In this work, we do something similar, but with a discrete model that has a more complicated structure.

#### 5.4.3 Example: Correlated Stochastic Shadowing Model

In the Markov two-state LOS/NLOS model described in § 5.3.2, each link is modeled independently with individual streams of random variables as input. The correlation among multiple links is missing in this modeling process. In this model, input random variables r determine the next transition out of each state. When modeled independently, the streams of random variables applied for each link are i.i.d.. To compensate for the correlation among physical events (LOS blockage and clearance) while maintaining the overall statistical property of each individual link, we introduce correlation among the streams of random variables of links that are close by, to simulate the correlation of physical events in the real world. To find the necessary *input* correlation among the random variables to produce a desired *output* correlation in the state, we solve for the stationary distribution of the Markov chain given  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  and numerically compute the input-output relation.

Suppose we have a network of n connected links that are simulated independently with random variable streams  $r_l \ l \in [1, n)$ , where each l represents one link. The desired correlation between input random streams of link  $l_1$  and link  $l_2$  is denoted as  $\rho(l_1, l_2)$ . The pair-wise correlation among n links can be presented in an n by n correlation matrix C:

$$\begin{pmatrix} c_{1,1} = 1 & \dots & c_{1,i} & \dots & c_{1,n} \\ & & & \dots & & \\ c_{i,1} & \dots & c_{i,i} = 1 & \dots & c_{i,n} \\ & & & \dots & & \\ c_{n,1} & \dots & c_{n,i} & \dots & c_{n,n} = 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$c_{i,j} = \rho(l_i, l_j) = Corr(link_i, link_j)$$
(5.1)

is the correlation coefficient between link  $l_i$  and link  $l_j$ .

Given i.i.d. random variables for all links R = [r(l)], the original correlation among inputs is  $RR^T = I$ . The task is to find  $R_{corr} = [r_{corr}(l)]$  such that

$$R_{corr}R_{corr}^T = C \tag{5.2}$$

As elements of matrix C are chosen individually, and there is no guarantee that C is a valid correlation matrix (C is symmetric, but not always positive-definite). A simple way to deal with this is to find the nearest correlation matrix  $C_{near}$  [36, 73] for C. Then, a corresponding  $R_{corr}$ can be found by computing an X through spectral decomposition of  $C_{near}$  such that

$$X^T X = C_{near} \tag{5.3}$$

The correlated input  $R_{corr}$  can then be derived by:

$$R_{corr} = RX \tag{5.4}$$

Each stream in  $R_{corr} = [r_{corr}(l)]$  is now a linear combination of original n i.i.d. random inputs, and still preserves original statistics.

#### 5.4.4 Determine Level of Correlation

The correlation coefficient  $\rho(l_i, l_j)$  reflects the *desired* level of correlation in some property between the two links. In general, finding this is a significant modeling problem in its own right: It will depend on the property in question and may be very environment-specific. We do not attempt to solve this problem – neither in general nor for the LOS status model specifically – rather we are studying the options for *implementing* such correlation once the desired level is known. For this work, we use a very simple model, where  $\rho(l_i, l_j)$  is a piecewise linear function of distance (measured from the "center point" of each link), ranging from  $\rho = 0.9$  at 0m to 0.01 at 1500m. Distance-based correlation models (either auto- or cross-) have been successfully developed for small-scale fading [37], path loss [67], shadowing from stationary objects [60], and more. When modeling wireless networks with high dynamics, the correlation property among adjacent links may change over time. For example, mobility of transceiver will change the distance between links. In this case, the correlation matrix needs to be updated to reflect the dynamics.

# 5.5 NS-3 Simulation Models

A prototype of the proposed stochastic shadowing model with correlation was implemented in ns-3. We utilize this simulation model to evaluate how the realism of shadowing simulation model impacts the performance of network protocols. Our simulation focuses on the performance of a gossiping protocol executing in a wireless vehicle-to-vehicle network deployed in a urban area. The simulation design utilizes realistic vehicle mobility and road topologies. The simulation results show significant differences in the performance of the gossiping protocol when different types of models are used for shadowing.

## 5.5.1 Gossiping Protocol

We envision an application similar to DSRC Basic Safety Messages, but in which some highpriority messages are rebroadcast to achieve wider geographic distribution and/or greater confidence that all nearby nodes will be informed. The protocol is as follows: Each vehicle broadcasts status packets with a fixed interval of 100ms. When a node wishes to retransmit a message it has overheard, that data is included in its next periodic packet. We implement a simple gossiping scheme: When a vehicle receives a new message in an incoming packet, it selectively rebroadcasts the new message with a certain probability (to avoid message flooding). Gradually, each message will spread throughout the network and, assuming a sufficiently dense vehicular network, it will eventually reach all vehicles in the area. (Any real protocol along these lines would need to bound messages' scopes, but we do not consider this.)

The primary performance metric for the gossip protocol is the delivery time of messages in the vehicular network, *i.e.*, how long it takes for vehicles to receive a new message. The delivery time is mostly determined by the topology of a vehicular network as well as the quality of the wireless links, which is influenced strongly by the surrounding physical environment. Our interest is not in the actual performance of this (admittedly very simple) gossiping protocol. Rather, we are interested in understanding the relative difference in performance of the gossiping protocol, when different patterns or models of spatial correlation across links are used.

## 5.5.2 Simulation Setup



Figure 5.5: Simulation Platform Overview

To best approximate the described scenario above, we combined multiple simulation tools and platforms to generate realistic vehicle mobility scenarios as well as channel propagation properties. A road network map was generated for a roughly 1.5 km x 1.5 km semi-residential region of a major U.S. city. Vehicles move along roads following the true map, however the specific traffic load and vehicle routes are synthetically generated using MOVE [46] and SUMO [8]. Wireless channels and networking were simulated in ns-3 [57], which was extended with the shadowing channel models described in § 5.5.3. The channel, PHY and MAC layer were implemented as a YansWifiChannel model with log-distance large scale path loss (exponent = 3.0) and Rayleigh<sup>1</sup> fading, in addition to our shadowing models.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that ns-3 does not support Rician or more vehicular-specific fading models, unless one wishes to do symbol-by-symbol simulation with PhySim-WiFi.

#### 5.5.3 Shadowing Models

We implemented both geometric shadowing models and stochastic shadowing models to be employed and compared in simulation. The output of a shadowing model is an additional attenuation that is added to the path loss. The loss is set to be 8dB for an NLOS (shadowed) link and 0dB for an LOS (un-shadowed) link. We use the following three shadowing models, and a baseline "No obstructions" case without shadowing.

#### Geometric

A simple geometric shadowing model is implemented with following features: Vehicles which are on the same road have an NLOS state if and only if another vehicle is on the same road between them.<sup>2</sup> Vehicles on different road segments but within 50m of each other (that is, roughly, vehicles within the same intersection for the road sizes in this neighborhood) have an unobstructed LOS. Vehicles on different road segments between 50m and 175m (that is, on intersecting roads) have NLOS. (NLOS propagation conditions near intersections are investigated in *e.g.* [65].) Vehicles on different road segments further than 175m apart are unable to communicate at all.

#### Stochastic (Independent)

In the stochastic model, links are modeled independently, so the shadowing properties of links are independent. The Markov two-state shadowing model described in § 5.3.2 is implemented, and each link is associated with one instance of this model. The transition probability parameters are fitted to match the behavior of the geometric model as closely as possible; this is described in more detail in § 5.5.4.

#### **Stochastic (Correlated)**

The stochastic LOS model is modified to enforce pairwise correlation as described in §5.4.3. The level of correlation between two links is determined using distance metrics. A basic piecewise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This model does not consider which lane any given vehicle is in; it may therefore have false positives when the "intervening" vehicle is not actually physically between the communicating pair.

function is implemented in simulation:

$$\rho(d) = \begin{cases}
0 & d \ge d_{max} \\
\rho_1 \frac{d_{max} - d_1}{d_{max} - d_1} & d_1 \le d < d_{max} \\
\rho_1 + (\rho_{max} - \rho_1) \frac{d_1 - d}{d_1 - d_0} & d_0 \le d < d_1 \\
\rho_{max} & 0 \le d < d_{min}
\end{cases}$$

The exact parameter values are configured for desired simulated scenarios. An example set of values for suburban area is:  $d_{min} = 10$ m,  $d_1 = 500$ m,  $d_{max} = 1500$ m,  $\rho_1 = 0.3$  and  $\rho_{max} = 0.9$ . The  $d_{max}$  reflects that links are independent when more than 1500m ( $\approx 1$  mile) apart from each other. The  $d_1$  reflects the length of one road segment, on the theory that links on the same road have higher similarity than those that are not.

#### 5.5.4 Accuracy of Stochastic LOS Model

The uncorrelated stochastic line-of-sight model introduced in § 5.4.3 has two free parameters:  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ . They determine the expected duration of LOS and NLOS periods respectively:

$$E[T_{LOS}] = \frac{1 - p_1}{p_1} \quad E[T_{NLOS}] = \frac{1 - p_2}{p_2}$$
(5.5)

By extension  $\frac{T_{LOS}}{T_{NLOS}}$  is the probability that any given link will be in an LOS state at any given time, which directly affects the link PDR (packet delivery ratio). The stochastic model parameters,  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ , could be determined independently from measured  $E[T_{LOS}]$  and  $E[T_{NLOS}]$  (as in [2, 90]). However, we hope to isolate the effect of spatial variation and correlation: That is, to the extent possible *average link performance is held constant across models*, leaving the spatial and temporal differences as determinants of application-layer performance. Therefore, we use an alternative approach to configure  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ . Since  $\frac{p_1}{p_2}$  (equivalent to  $\frac{T_{LOS}}{T_{NLOS}}$ ) largely determines link PDR, we select the  $\frac{p_1}{p_2}$  ratio that produces a PDR which matches the actual link PDR property observed from geometric model from § 5.5.3.<sup>3</sup> Next, the exact  $p_1$  is calculated from  $E[T_{LOS}]$  and  $p_2$  value is determined afterwards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note in Table 5.1 that the PDRs are not perfectly matched; a subset of the full experiment was used for fitting. This difference should bias the results toward the stochastic model producing *worse* overall performance. The actual results are the opposite, so we think it safe to conclude that the results are not an artifact of this bias.

Figure 5.6 shows the distributions of the duration of LOS and NLOS states for links across all models considered. The mean duration for each state is close across models (see Table 5.1). Note that this does not automatically follow from tuning the models to produce the same expected PDR; it is reassuring to see that fixing the models to produce the same output by one measure does in fact lead to them being similar by other measures. The distributions are not identical. Note also that the distributions for the independent and correlated variants of the stochastic model are almost identical: This confirms that the *average* link behavior is the same, only the inter-link correlation differs.



Figure 5.6: ECDF of LOS and NLOS durations.

	Geometric	Stochastic
Packet delivery ratio	0.28	0.23
LOS probability	0.89	0.73
E[LOS duration] (s)	5.87	6.75
E[NLOS duration] (s)	9.09	8.35

Table 5.1: Link-level Comparison of Shadowing Models.

## 5.5.5 Simulated Scenario

The simulated vehicular network has 300 vehicles, scattered across a 1 mile x 1 mile suburban area. The road network in this area consists of 5 east-west roads and 5 south-north roads. There are on average 5 cars on each road segment (between two intersections). One new emergency message is generated at time 0.01s at one single vehicle in the center. Each simulation runs for 20 seconds, during which time the new message was always distributed to all vehicles that are reachable in the network.

We do not have access to measured data sets that can be used as a ground truth for shadowing in urban areas. We expect that geometric models will generally give the most realistic results since they use the most detailed representation of the physical world, so our discussion will compare the results for other models with those for the geometric model. Geometric propagation models (*e.g.* the ITM point-to-point mode for natural terrain) in are widely employed in software tools like [26, 51, 78].

# 5.6 Simulation Results

The simulation results address two basic questions:

1. Do spatial patterns in link quality matter to application performance?

2. How well does a stochastic model with explicit spatial correlation approximate the effects of "real" spatial patterns?

The next section (§ 5.7) considers the computational cost of such models.

We define application-layer performance as the time required for each participating node to receive the gossiped message. This section looks at both overall performance (the distribution of delivery time over all nodes) and delivery time relative to distance.



Figure 5.7: End-To-End Delay

Figure 5.7 shows the cumulative distribution function of the delivery times over all nodes in the simulation. In addition to the three shadowing models already discussed, a baseline *no ob-structions* case is included for reference. This shows the performance without any shadowing effects.

We observe a substantial effect from spatial and temporal variation: The median packet delivery time is 0.52s for the independent model 0.82s for the geometric case; the Kolmogorov-Smirnoff (K-S) distance between the two distributions is 0.6. Recall that the probability of success for an arbitrary link at an arbitrary moment is **identical** across the geometric and both stochastic models. The Markov model has similar (but not identical) time-series behavior to the geometric case (see § 5.5.4), suggesting spatial patterns as the primary difference.

We additionally note a significant difference between the correlated and independent stochastic model outputs: The K-S distance is 0.37. In this case, the degree of cross-correlation is the only difference between the models. The cross-correlated model is closer to the geometric model (in both median and variance) than the independent model is, but there is still a significant difference (K-S distance of 0.36).

## 5.6.2 Delivery Time Relative to Distance



Figure 5.8: Message Delivery Time
Figure 5.8 is a scatter plot of message delivery times (y-axis) as a function of the distance between the receiver and the vehicle that originated the message.

If we draw a line to approximate linear regression of the delivery time vs. distance, the slope is proportional to the number of hops for a given distance. Geometric models impose constraints on connectivity as a result of LOS blocking due to buildings and vehicles, and as a result, more hops are required on average compared to the empty world model that ignores shadowing. Using stochastic shadowing model improves the level of realism somewhat relative to the empty world model, while adding spatial correlation brings the results even closer to those obtained with the geometric model.

Regarding the horizontal distribution of delay for a given distance, the results based on the geometric shadowing model have the widest range. The reason is that the geometric model captures spatial diversity in the most detail, e.g., consistently distinguishing between node pairs on the same road segment, near an intersection, or on parallel road. The diverse for a distance indicates the spatial variation of link property (at the same distance). Since both the empty world and stochastically uncorrelated models are spatially independent (or homogeneous in all directions) by nature, the horizontal diverse range is minimum compared to other models. The stochastically correlated model falls in between.

#### **Hop Counts**

To examine the actual delivery time over the space, we calculate how many hops are required for new messages to be delivered to each vehicle. The results are visualized in Figure 5.10 and Figure 5.9. Naturally, hop count increases steadily in all directions, as distance increases from the center of the area. However, when using the Geometric Model, the rate at which hop count increases depends on the direction across directions. Packets travel faster in the horizontal and vertical directions, following roads, but they take longer to reach corners. Such effect is also observed in correlated-stochastic models, but not in the bottom two models (Stochastic and Empty world). The reason that adding correlation in the stochastic model helps to preserve local consistency across links, which helps to reflect dependency among adjacent links, but this effect is missing from the Stochastic and Empty world models.



Figure 5.9: Hop Counts v.s. Distance



Figure 5.10: Hop Counts



Figure 5.11: Actual Packet Routes

#### **Actual Packet Routes**

The local consistency preserved by the correlated-stochastic model is more evident when we examine the actual route taken by each packet (message) in Figure 5.11. The geometric model constraints packet routes to be on road segments and around intersections, while the correlated-stochastic model enforces correlation between nearby links, which results in a similar outcome.

## 5.7 Discussion on Complexity

In this section, we analyze the modeling complexity of a network-wide simulation of network of correlated wireless channels. We compare the complexity of the geometric and stochastic strategies discussed earlier in § 5.4 and § 5.5.

#### 5.7.1 Simulation Model

We assume a simulation of a network of N nodes that move around in a physical environment, results in  $N^2$  potential links. Simulators often only model links for which the end-points have a realistic chance of being within communication range. Let us assume that on average n ( $0 \le n \le N$ ) nodes are within range of a node, then the number of links to simulate drops to order nNlinks. n depends on both the node density as well as the communication range. We also need to determine, for each node, what nodes are within range which requires order NlogN time, e.g., by organizing objects in a tree based on their geographic location in the environment, which is a common practice in spatial database systems [35].

Movement in the simulated network requires that the simulator will have to regularly update both the channel state and internal data structures regularly. We can distinguish between three different update frequencies corresponding to different types of data. First, the simulator will have to make frequent updates of the channel state, which can then be used to calculate packet level errors and link state. We will denote the update frequency of the channels as  $f_c$  and the interval between updates as  $t_c$ , i.e.,  $f_c = 1/t_c$ . The minimum frequency  $f_{c.min}$  at which channels must be updated depends on the speed of both the wireless devices and other objects in the environment. For example for small-scale fading, movement of objects by a significant fraction of a wavelength of the wireless signals affects the way multi-path signals combine, e.g., constructively or destructively. Other channel properties, such as path loss, LOS, and Doppler shift, will typically change more slowly. The update frequency  $f_c$  can usually be determined based on the maximum speed of objects in the environment.

For both geometric and stochastic channel models, the channel state needs to be recomputed every  $t_c$  seconds to properly reflect the instantaneous channel state. Geometric channel models directly model the physical environment, so the impact of wireless device and object mobility is automatically taken into account. Stochastic models also account for movement in model parameters. e.g., the fading model may take input parameters representing the speed of the wireless radios and objects. In both cases, the update frequency  $f_c$  can be determined based on the maximum speed of objects in the environment.

Next there are a number of channel parameters that need to be updated at a frequency that is directly related to the speed at which physical devices move. We will represent this frequency as  $f_p$  and the period as  $t_p$ .  $f_p$  is typically much lower than  $f_c$ . Finally, as we describe later, we need to update the correlation matrix of each link with a frequency  $f_{corr}$ . Generally,  $f_{corr} \leq f_p$  because link topology (updated at  $f_{corr}$ ) changes less frequently than channel parameters (updated at  $f_p$ ). Given this notation, the partial simulation cost so far is

$$f_c C_c Nn + f_p C_n N log(N) \tag{5.6}$$

where  $C_c$  is the cost of updating the channel state of a link and  $C_n$  is the per unit cost of determining n.

Next, we consider the complexity of simulating a single link and the correlation between links for the cases when geometric and stochastic channel models are used.

#### 5.7.2 Geometric Models

Geometric channel models explicitly model objects in the environment that may have an impact on signal propagation. The impact may include reflections that contributes to multi-path effects, blocking direct LOS that causes additional attenuation, and scattering that contributes to fastfading. We denote by M the total number of objects modeled in the simulated environment. The model for the channel between a transmitter and a receiver must incorporate the impact of the objects in the area surrounding the link. The average number of objects to be considered when modeling a link is denoted as m. m represents the density of objects in the surrounding area and it depends strongly on both the type of environment (e.g., a desert versus a suburban area), and the level of granularity at which the environment is modeled (e.g., the size of the smallest object that is represented). The geographic range within which objects must be consider is also environment dependent. It will be much larger in a rural area than in an urban area, where buildings along the road block the LOS to objects behind them. In addition, the range also depends on both the channel model and the channel property being considered. The area could for example be represented as a Fresnel zone of the link of a certain order.

The per link cost associated with a geometric channel model includes two components. A first cost consists of identifying the m objects that may impact the link, i.e., that are within a certain range. A brute solution has cost M, but this can be reduced to log(M), similar to what we did to computer n, which is incurred with a frequency  $f_p$ .

The second cost is the per-link simulation complexity, which increases roughly proportionally with m. For example, m objects may have to be considered as potential reflectors that can add a path to the channel, or as an object that can block LOS and add to the path loss. Finally, m may be different for, e.g., LOS blocking and properties such as interference.

The cost to update the channel state for a link can be approximated as  $C_{g0} + mC_{g1}$ , where  $C_{g0}$ is the constant cost of modeling a link, and  $C_{g1}$  is the extra cost for considering one more object in the geometric model. It is incurred with a frequency  $f_c$ . With geometric models, there is no extra cost for modeling spatial correlation across channels, it is already reflected in the overhead associated with modeling the objects.

#### 5.7.3 Stochastic Models

Stochastic channel models simulate the variation in link properties using parameterized stochastic process, where the parameter values are selected to match statistical properties of the variations in the signal propagation properties measured in the real world. Input parameters can capture properties of the mobile wireless devices (e.g., speed, distance) and physical environment (e.g., density and mobility of objects).

The per-link cost for a stochastic channel model includes three components. The first is that of updating the channel state of each link,  $C_{stoch}$ , which is incurred with a frequency  $f_c$ . The second is determining proper parameter values in the channel model, denoted  $C_i$ , per link. This occurs with a frequency  $f_p$ . When modeling correlation among multiple links, a third cost is required to calculate desired correlation properties. For example, the correlated simulation model described in § 5.4 considers the first-order spatial correlation, where all links in the vicinity of a given link are modeled collectively. In this case, there are three major steps: (a) calculate correlation coefficients in a correlation matrix, (b) spectral decomposition of the correlation matrix, and (c) calculate correlated random input, which corresponds to the cost  $C_{stoch}$ . The first two steps occur with a frequency of  $f_{corr}$ , while the last step occurs with a frequency  $f_c$ .

The complexity of each of the above step is determined by the size of the correlation matrix. Assuming nN links, the size of the correlation matrix is nN by nN. Therefore, the overall cost for all links combined can be determined as follows.  $n^2N^2$  correlation coefficients for step (a). For step (b), a reasonable cost for eigenvector decomposition in Equation 5.3 is  $O(n^3N^3)$  [64]. For step (c), the complexity is nN for each link in Equation 5.4, thus  $O(n^2N^2)$  for all links.

In reality, only links in a certain range are correlated since the degree of correlation will be higher for nearby links, and will become negligible for links that are far away. Moreover, the correlation range also depends on the type of channel properties modeled in the stochastic model. For example, when considerting multi-path models, 2-Ray gound reflection model [71] considers transmitting, receiving antennas and ground to be the only objects in the range; while vehicle-to-vehicle small-scale fading model [22] considers any objects along the road to be in range.

Similar to what we did for determining the number of objects that might impact a link for the geometric link, We can assume that on average  $n_{corr}$  be the average number of nodes in the correlated vicinity of a given link, i.e., near the endpoints or in the area of between them. The range of the area to consider will depends on the property being modeled, similar to what we discussed for m.

Therefore, the cost for step(a), (b), (c) for each subset of  $n_{corr}^2$  links are are  $O(n_{corr}^4)$ ,  $O(n_{corr}^6)$  and  $O(n_{corr}^4)$  respectively.

Notice that calculating correlation using a subset of the network reduce the matrix dimension dramatically, but the same correlation is calculated multiple times for a pair of links. Therefore, it is practical to use this process in simulation large-scale sparse networks, where for any given link the correlation with most of the links can be ignored (smaller  $n_{corr}$ ). For small-scale networks with condense links (larger  $n_{corr}$ ), the complexity of calculating correlation increases dramatically, thus an overall correlation matrix is more desired.

#### 5.7.4 Overall Complexity Discussion

The complexity of modeling a specific environment is different for geometric models and stochastic models. To simulate a desired environment, geometric models require not only modeling objects individually but also accurate input of both dimension and mobility of these objects. [90] One the other hand, stochastic models requires statistical properties of each link to configure the models, and link dynamics are approximated using random input seed. In addition, while correlation among links are present by nature in geometric models, the correlated link properties need to be addressed explicitly in stochastic models. The modeling complexity for correlated links in stochastic models depends mainly on the density of links in the network (the ratio between  $n_{corr}$ and N). For link-dense network, the cost increases dramatically for stochastic correlate models, and geometric models become more attractive. On the other hand, geometric models complexity also depends on the density of affecting objects (value m) in range, and the accuracy is limited by input parameter accuracy.

## 5.8 Summary

Representing spatial correlation across multiple channels in simulation depends strongly on how properties of individual links are modeled: geometric models with extreme details automatically capture spatial correlation while a separate spatial correlation model is often required for link properties stochastically modeled.

In this chapter, we first discuss correlation among channel dynamics, especially in vehicular networks, in §5.2 which motivates the need for modeling channel cross-correlation. In §5.3 we provide background on the different types of models for properties of individual links.

The design space for modeling spatial correlation and a novel correlated stochastic model are presented in §5.4. As an example of the proposed solution, we implemented a new simulation component in ns-3 which handles correlated channel shadowing properties which is presented in §5.5. Both channel shadowing properties and actual link connectivity properties are compared using a basic message distribution (gossiping) protocol. Simulation results in § 5.6 show that correlated channel models help to preserve local consistency among adjacent links, thus providing the most comparable results approaching reality.

Finally, we analyze the complexity of different approaches (statistical vs. geometrical) in §5.7 to provide a guidance for model selection for large-scale simulations.

# Chapter 6

# **Conclusion and Future Work**

## 6.1 Conclusion

Wireless simulation and emulation platforms support controlled experiments to efficiently prototype and evaluate wireless designs. To simulate channel properties and dynamics in physical environments, various channel models have been developed to represent the impact of different physical world effects. In Chapter 1, we discussed that different physical world effects have different impact on wireless channel properties. The impact can be modeled using different channel models, in particular at different time scales, using either a geometric model or a stachastic model. The realism of simulated wireless environment is determined by the exact channel models along with parameterization methods used in these simulation platforms.

As discussed in Chapter 4, geometric models are powerful in representing accurate dynamics and spatial correlation by modeling each object explicitly. For large factors, such as large-scale path loss based on distance and large reflectors, it is practical to use a geometric model when the exact dimension, location of such objects can be obtained. On the other hand, information of small factors, such as scatterers, is often impractical to obtain.

In Chapter 4, we proposed a novel stationary scatterer estimation approach to obtain accurate input on scatterer density, and showed significant improvement on dynamic realism compared to the common practice of using area averaged parameter values. In addition, when the more accurate models input for geometric models are not available, stochastic models are more practical

and sufficient to reflect the impact of a large number of small factors.

This thesis proposed an environment model that achieves high simulation realism using both geometric and stochastic models, with special focus on vehicular networks with high dynamics. The proposed model includes the design and implementation of a variety of environment models that enhance the realism in simulation. These models capture realistic signal propagation properties across multiple connections, and over time: first, the impact of realistic physical world features, such as channel dynamics and cross link correlation are characterized at different time scales; then, both geometrical and statistical simulation models are developed to recreate desired channel dynamics among wireless network links efficiently. A flexible channel simulation model is also presented to support fast generation of channel updates from complicated channel models.

In this chapter, we first summarize the contributions of this thesis work. Then we discuss possible future work based on the results of this thesis.

#### 6.1.1 Contribution

#### System Design for Realistic Simulations

To motivate the challenges of simulating complicate wireless environments with high dynamics, we discussed the control mechanisms that are used in wireless protocol designs to handle channel dynamics. Next, we reviewed features of the physical world that impact wireless communication, followed by discussion on the level of accuracy and realism available on current wireless simulation and emulation platforms.

We presented a system design of a wireless simulation platform that provides flexible configuration of realistic wireless environment, and is capable of represent related physical world impact through experiment configurations. The proposed system includes four major components: a *World Model* module that represents objects and events, a *Wireless Feature Analysis* module that performs spatial and temporal analysis to select channel models, a *Channel Model Control* for channel configuration and a *Flexible Channel Control* module that generates channel updates at real-time. Provided with information obtained from the *World Model* module, the *Wireless Feature Analysis* module supports both temporal and spatial correlation analysis for a large-scale wireless network, which is a unique feature of this system design.

#### **Flexible Channel Simulation Model**

Achieving a high degree of realism in channel models in high speed environments requires frequent channel updates in wireless simulation and emulation. Channel updates in complex channel models are resource consuming, which limits the number of channels, and essentially the size of a simulated network, in real-time emulation. We implemented a general channel model that can support a wide variety of wireless technologies and environments and validated it using high dynamic vehicle-to-vehicle channels, which is particularly challenging because of the speed of the wireless devices and objects. The proposed solution utilizes off-line preparation and run-time adaptation to generate channel updates efficiently.

#### **Temporal Correlation with High Realism**

The outputs of a model are only as good as its inputs. Complex channel models often require environment-specific configuration to achieve high accuracy and realism for desired scenarios. Accurate parameter values for these scenarios are often hard to obtain but are essential for obtaining realistic temporal correlation of wireless properties.

We presented a land-cover based approach for modeling and reproducing environment-specific channel properties. The proposed modeling approach is systematic and suitable for large-scale real-time simulation and emulation.

Compared to previous solutions where averaged parameter values were used for any given area, our results show that supplying location-specific parameter estimates to an existing channel model **halved** the error level relative to using fixed area-average parameters. This improvement requires only coarse-grained estimates based on readily-available data, not a detailed "ground truth". 802.11a packet-level experiments performed over emulated channels show that our improved fading realism directly translates into a comparable improvement in packet delivery ratio (PDR) accuracy to the results using average parameter values.

The discussion focuses on fading and line-of-sight effects in V2V channels, and specifically on the effect of improving the estimated density of stationary scatterers along roads. We also discuss the generalization of our approach to be applied to other environments where geometric properties plays critical roles in simulation realism.

#### **Cross-Link (Spatial) Correlation Models**

We addressed challenges in modeling correlated dynamics for wireless channels.

We presented the design space for modeling spatial correlation across wireless channels, both for link properties that are modeled geometrically and stochastically. The focus is on networklevel simulation involving many channels. We also showed that such correlation has a significant impact on network- and application-layer performance, at least for some applications.

A novel correlated stochastic model is proposed for simulating shadowing and NLOS effects. We presented a technique for creating such correlation on top of channel models that do not inherently provide it. To validate the design, different spatial correlation channel models were implemented for the line-of-sight link property in ns-3 and used our implementation to quantify the impact of the choice of model on the performance of a gossip protocol. Simulation results shows high approximation of realism compared to other existing stochastic models.

In addition, we analyzed the complexity of the different modeling options and propose guidelines for selecting the best model, considering cost, accuracy requirements, and type of experiment.

## 6.2 Future Work

#### 6.2.1 General Vehicular Networks Environment

Vehicular networks is a collection of diverse environments due to variation of road topology and roadside constructions. In this thesis, we validate our design on suburban areas where measurement data are available. However, some of the design components may not suit situations in other vehicular networks, such as higher speed in freeway. In addition, the same design concept can be applied to other wireless network environments, such as outdoor environment with mobile objects and indoor environment with diverse channels properties.

#### 6.2.2 Address Temporal Correlation at Different Time Scales

Temporal correlation properties exist at multiple time scales. For example, MIMO models consider channel coherence time at  $\mu$ s; scatterer distribution estimation considers temporal consistency at a longer-term basis. For other mobile scatterers and obstacles, the temporal correlation of channel properties introduced by such objects would range between these two extremes. It is desired to represent the temporal dependency at desired time scale by either improving parameter accuracy as we did for stationary scatterer, or enforcing the correlation in stochastic models which is not addressed in this thesis. When design correlation models, how sensitive radios are regarding the subtle variation of signals should be considered to avoid over-correction in representing channel properties that are computationally expensive with negligible impact on protocol performance.

# 6.2.3 Sophisticated Cross-Link Correlation for Different Channel Properties

Cross-Link correlation properties are observed for channel properties at different time scales in different area. In this thesis, the discussion focuses on small-scale fading properties and large-scale shadowing properties in vehicular networks. With regard to correlation models, our discussion focused on distance-based correlation among channel properties. In general wireless networks, the cross-link correlation properties at different time scales should be examined, likely from measurement databases or simulation results using geometric model, to determine different correlation profiles for each scenario. For example, the multipath properties in indoor environments would exhibit similarity among rooms with similarity inside rooms similar layout, rather than distance between rooms.

# Bibliography

- [1] 80211. IEEE 80211 Standard. http://www.ieee802.org/11/. URL http:// www.ieee802.org/11/. 1.1
- [2] Taimoor Abbas, Fredrik Tufvesson, Katrin Sjoberg, and Johan Karedal. Measurement based shadow fading model for vehicle-to-vehicle network simulations. *IEEE Transactions* on Vehicular Technology, 2012. 4.5, 5.3.2, 5.5.4
- [3] Aerial Photography Field Office. National agricultural imagery program. http://www. fsa.usda.gov/FSA/apfoapp?area=home&subject=prog&topic=nai, 2010. 4.4, 4.4.2
- [4] Piyush Agrawal and Neal Patwari. Correlated link shadow fading in multi-hop wireless networks. *Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, 8(8):4024–4036, 2009. 1.5.5, 5.1
- [5] Abdulkader S. Akki and Fred Haber. A statistical model of mobile-to-mobile land communication channel. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 35:2 – 7, February 1986.
   1.5.1, 3.1, 3.2.2, 4.1
- [6] N. Avazov and M. Patzold. A geometric street scattering channel model for car-to-car communication systems. In *Proc. Int Advanced Technologies for Communications (ATC) Conf.*, pages 224–230, 2011. doi: 10.1109/ATC.2011.6027472. 1.5.1
- [7] Azimuth. Azimuth wireless channel emulator. http://www.azimuthsystems. com/. URL http://www.azimuthsystems.com/. 1.5.2
- [8] M. Behrisch, L. Bieker, J. Erdmann, and D. Krajzewicz. Sumo simulation of urban mobility: An overview. In *The Third International Conference on Advances in System Simulation*,

pages 63-68, Barcelona, Spain, October 2011. 1.5.3, 1.5.4, 5.5.2

- [9] E. M. Belding-Royer. Wireless networking outside of the simulator. In Proc. 29th Annual IEEE Int Local Computer Networks Conf., 2004. doi: 10.1109/LCN.2004.140. 1.5.4
- [10] Laura Bernadó, Thomas Zemen, Fredrik Tufvesson, Andreas F. Molisch, and Christoph F. Mecklenbräuker. The (in-) validity of the WSSUS assumption in vehicular radio channels. In *Personal Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC), 2012 IEEE 23rd International Symposium on*, pages 1757–1762, 2012. doi: 10.1109/PIMRC.2012.6362634. 4.7.2
- [11] John C. Bicket. Bit-rate selection in wireless networks. Technical report, Masters thesis, MIT, 2005. 1.1, 1.5.6
- [12] Sanjit Biswas and Robert Morris. ExOR: Opportunistic multi-hop routing for wireless networks. ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review, 35:133-144, August 2005. ISSN 0146-4833. doi: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1090191.1080108. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1090191.1080108. 1.1, 1.5.6
- [13] T. Blaschke. Object based image analysis for remote sensing. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 65(1):2–16, 2010. 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.1
- [14] M. Boban, T. T V Vinhoza, M. Ferreira, J. Barros, and O.K. Tonguz. Impact of vehicles as obstacles in vehicular ad hoc networks. *Selected Areas in Communications, IEEE Journal on*, 29(1):15–28, 2011. ISSN 0733-8716. doi: 10.1109/JSAC.2011.110103. 1.5.3, 1.5.5, 5.1
- [15] Mate Boban, João Barros, and Ozan K. Tonguz. Geometry-based vehicle-to-vehicle channel modeling for large-scale simulation. *CoRR*, abs/1305.0124, 2013. 5.3.2
- [16] Mate Boban, Rui Meireles, Joao Barros, Peter A. Steenkiste, and Ozan K. Tonguz. Tvr tall vehicle relaying in vehicular networks. *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, 99, 2013. ISSN 1536-1233. doi: http://doi.ieeecomputersociety.org/10.1109/TMC.2013.70. 1.5.5, 5.1
- [17] Kevin Borries, Glenn Judd, Daniel Stancil, and Peter Steenkiste. FPGA-based channel simulator for a wireless network emulator. In 67th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2009-Spring), 2009. 3.1, 3.3, 3.4.1

- [18] channelEmulator. SR5500 wireless channel emulator. http://www.spirent.com/ Solutions-Directory/SR5500.aspx. URL http://www.spirent.com/ Solutions-Directory/SR5500.aspx. 1.5.2, 2.4
- [19] Lin Cheng, B. E. Henty, D. D. Stancil, Fan Bai, and P. Mudalige. Mobile vehicle-tovehicle narrow-band channel measurement and characterization of the 5.9 GHz dedicated short range communication (DSRC) frequency band. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 25(8):1501–1516, 2007. doi: 10.1109/JSAC.2007.071002. 1.5.3
- [20] Lin Cheng, B.E. Henty, D.D. Stancil, Fan Bai, and P. Mudalige. Mobile vehicle-to-vehicle narrow-band channel measurement and characterization of the 5.9 ghz dedicated short range communication (dsrc) frequency band. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 25(8):1501–1516, Oct. 2007. ISSN 0733-8716. doi: 10.1109/JSAC.2007.071002. 4.1, 4.2.1, 4.3.2, 4.3.3, 4.5, 4.6.2
- [21] Lin Cheng, B. Henty, R. Cooper, D. D. Stancil, and Fan Bai. Multi-path propagation measurements for vehicular networks at 5.9 GHz. In *Proc. IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conf. (WCNC)*, pages 1239–1244, 2008. doi: 10.1109/WCNC.2008.223. 1.5.3
- [22] Lin Cheng, Fan Bai, and D. D. Stancil. A new geometrical channel model for vehicle-to-vehicle communications. In *Proc. IEEE Antennas and Propagation Society Int. Symp.* (*APS/URSI*), 2009. doi: 10.1109/APS.2009.5171920. (document), 1.5.1, 3.2.2, 3.4, 3.2.2, 4.1, 4.2.1, 4.2.2, 4.3.3, 4.3.3, 4.4, 4.6.2, 4.7.1, 4.7.4, 4.8.1, 5.7.3
- [23] Lin Cheng, Daniel D. Stancil, and Fan Bai. A new geometrical model for vehicle-to-vehicle communication channel. *JSAC*, 2013. Accepted. 4.7.5
- [24] R. H. Clarke. A statistical theory of mobile-radio reception. *The Bell System Technical Journal*, 47(6):957 1000, 1968. 3.2.2
- [25] R.H. Clarke and Wee Lin Khoo. 3-d mobile radio channel statistics. *Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions on*, 46(3):798–799, August 1997. ISSN 0018-9545. doi: 10.1109/25.
   618205. 3.2.3
- [26] Roger Coudé. Radio mobile rf propagation simulation software. http://

radiomobile.pelmew.nl. 5.5.5

- [27] Douglas S. J. De Couto, Daniel Aguayo, John Bicket, and Robert Morris. A high-throughput path metric for multi-hop wireless routing. Wireless Networks, 11:419–434, 2005. ISSN 1022-0038. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11276-005-1766-z. 1.1, 5.1
- [28] R. B. Ertel and J. H. Reed. Angle and time of arrival statistics for circular and elliptical scattering models. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 17(11):1829–1840, 1999. doi: 10.1109/49.806814. 1.5.1
- [29] ETSI-TS-100-910. Digital cellular telecommunications system (phase 2+); radio transmission and reception. 3GPP TS 05.05. 3.1
- [30] S.F. Fard, A. Alimohammad, and B.F. Cockburn. An fpga-based simulator for high path count rayleigh and rician fading. *Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions on*, 59(6):2725 –2734, july 2010. ISSN 0018-9545. doi: 10.1109/TVT.2010.2046660. 4.7.2
- [31] TM Fernandez-Carames, M Gonzalez-Lopez, and L Castedo. Fpga-based vehicular channel emulator for real-time performance evaluation of ieee 802.11p transceivers. *EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking*, 2010(1):607467, 2010. ISSN 1687-1499. doi: 10.1155/2010/607467. URL http://jwcn.eurasipjournals.com/content/2010/1/607467. 3.1
- [32] T. T. Georgiou and A. Lindquist. Kullback-leibler approximation of spectral density functions. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theor.*, 49(11):2910–2917, September 2006. ISSN 0018-9448. doi: 10.1109/TIT.2003.819324. 4.6.2
- [33] glomisim. GloMoSim, UCLA. http://pcl.cs.ucla.edu/projects/ glomosim/. URL http://pcl.cs.ucla.edu/projects/glomosim/. 1.5.2, 2.4
- [34] C. Gray, N. Santhapuri, and S. Nelakuditi. On bit-rate selection for opportunistic routing. In *Proc. 5th IEEE Annual Communications Society Conf. Sensor, Mesh and Ad Hoc Commu nications and Networks (SECON) Workshops*, pages 1–6, 2008. doi: 10.1109/SAHCNW. 2008.17. 1.1, 1.5.6

- [35] Antonin Guttman. R-trees: A dynamic index structure for spatial searching. In *Proceedings* of the ACM SIGMOD International Conference on Management of Data, New York, NY, USA, 1984. ISBN 0-89791-128-8. doi: 10.1145/602259.602266. 5.7.1
- [36] Nicholas J. Higham. Computing the nearest correlation matrix a problem from finance. *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis*, 22:329–343, 2002. 5.4.3
- [37] X. Hong, C.-X. Wang, B. Allen, and W.Q. Malik. Correlation-based double-directional stochastic channel model for multiple-antenna ultra-wideband systems. *Microwaves, Antennas Propagation, IET*, 1(6):1182–1191, 2007. ISSN 1751-8725. doi: 10.1049/iet-map: 20060223. 5.1, 5.4.4
- [38] ITM-Longley-Rice. Wireless Propagation Bibliography, ITM/Longley-Rice Model. http://w3.antd.nist.gov/wctg/manet/wirelesspropagation\_ bibliog.html. 5.1
- [39] A. P. Jardosh, E. M. Belding-Royer, K. C. Almeroth, and S. Suri. Real-world environment models for mobile network evaluation. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 23(3):622–632, 2005. doi: 10.1109/JSAC.2004.842561. 1.5.4
- [40] David B. Johnson, David A. Maltz, and Josh Broch. Dsr: The dynamic source routing protocol for multi-hop wireless ad hoc networks. In *In Ad Hoc Networking, Chapter 5*, pages 139–172. Addison-Wesley, 2001. 5.1
- [41] Glenn Judd and Peter Steenkiste. Using emulation to understand and improve wireless networks and applications. In *Proceedings of the 2nd conference on Symposium on Networked Systems Design & Implementation (NSDI) - Volume 2*, pages 203–216, Berkeley, CA, USA, 2005. USENIX Association. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation. cfm?id=1251203.1251218. 1.3, 1.5.2, 3.1
- [42] Glenn Judd and Peter Steenkiste. A software architecture for physical layer wireless network emulation. In *WiNTECH*, Los Angeles, 2006. 3.1, 4.7
- [43] Glenn Judd and Peter Steenkiste. A software architecture for physical layer wireless network emulation. In Proceedings of the 1st international workshop on Wireless network testbeds, experimental evaluation & characterization, pages 2–9. ACM, 2006. ISBN 1-

59593-539-8. doi: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1160987.1160990. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1160987.1160990.5.3.1

- [44] J. Karedal, F. Tufvesson, N. Czink, A. Paier, C. Dumard, T. Zemen, C.F. Mecklenbrauker, and A.F. Molisch. A geometry-based stochastic mimo model for vehicle-to-vehicle communications. *Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, 8(7):3646–3657, July 2009. ISSN 1536-1276. doi: 10.1109/TWC.2009.080753. 4.1, 4.2.2, 4.3.3
- [45] R.H. Katz. Adaptation and mobility in wireless information systems. *Personal Communications, IEEE*, 1(1):6–17, 1994. ISSN 1070-9916. doi: 10.1109/98.295355. 1.5.6
- [46] V.D. Khairnar and S.N. Pradhan. Mobility models for vehicular ad-hoc network simulation. In *Computers Informatics (ISCI), 2011 IEEE Symposium on*, pages 460–465, 2011. doi: 10.1109/ISCI.2011.5958959. 1.5.4, 5.5.2
- [47] A. Köpke, M. Swigulski, K. Wessel, D. Willkomm, P. T. Klein Haneveld, T. E. V. Parker, O. W. Visser, H. S. Lichte, and S. Valentin. Simulating wireless and mobile networks in OMNeT++ the MiXiMvision. In *Proceedings of the 1st international conference on Simulation tools and techniques for communications, networks and systems & workshops*, pages 71:1–71:8, Brussels, Belgium, 2008. ICST (Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering). ISBN 978-963-9799-20-2. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1416222.1416302. 1.5.2, 2.4
- [48] S. Kullback. Information theory and statistics. John Wiley and Sons, NY, 1959. 4.6.2
- [49] Woongsup Lee and Dong-Ho Cho. A new neighbor discovery scheme based on spatial correlation of wireless channel. In *IEEE 69th Vehicular Technology Conference*, Spring 2009. doi: 10.1109/VETECS.2009.5073313. 1.5.5, 5.1
- [50] Mei-Hsuan Lu, Peter Steenkiste, and Tsuhan Chen. Design, implementation and evaluation of an efficient opportunistic retransmission protocol. In *Proceedings of the 15th annual international conference on Mobile computing and networking (MobiCom)*, pages 73–84. ACM, 2009. ISBN 978-1-60558-702-8. doi: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1614320.1614329. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1614320.1614329. 1.5.6, 5.1, 5.2
- [51] John A. Magliacane. Splat! a terrestrial rf path analysis application for linux/unix. http:

//www.qsl.net/kd2bd/splat.html. 5.5.5

- [52] Rahul Mangharam, Daniel Weller, Raj Rajkumar, Priyantha Mudalige, and Fan Bai. Groovenet: A hybrid simulator for vehicle-to-vehicle networks. In *Third Annual International Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Systems*, 2006. doi: 10.1109/MOBIQW. 2006.361773. 1.5.4
- [53] R. Meireles, M. Boban, P. Steenkiste, O. Tonguz, and J. Barros. Experimental study on the impact of vehicular obstructions in VANETs. In *Proc. IEEE Vehicular Networking Conf.* (*VNC*), pages 338–345, 2010. doi: 10.1109/VNC.2010.5698233. 1.5.3, 5.3.2
- [54] Rui Meireles, Mate Boban, Peter Steenkiste, Ozan Tonguz, and Jo ao Barros. Experimental study on the impact of obstructions in vehicular ad hoc networks. In *The 2010 IEEE Vehicular Networking Conference*, 2010. 4.1
- [55] A. Momen, A. S. Hassani, and P. Azmi. Real-world vehicle mobility modeling based on wireless network information. In *Proc. IEEE 64th Vehicular Technology Conf. (VTC-Fall)*, 2006. doi: 10.1109/VTCF.2006.478. 1.5.4
- [56] M. Nakagami. The m-distribution, a general formula of intensity distribution of rapid fading. Statistical Method of Radio Propagation, 1960. 1.5.2, 5.1
- [57] ns3. Network Simulator: ns-3. http://www.nsnam.org/. 1.2.1, 1.3, 1.5.2, 2.4, 4.1, 5.1, 5.5.2
- [58] openWSN. openWNS: open wireless network simulator. http://www. openwns.org/Wiki/Documentation. URL http://www.openwns.org/ Wiki/Documentation. 1.5.2
- [59] opnet. OPNET Network Simulator. http://www.opnet.com/solutions/ network\_rd/modeler.html. URL http://www.opnet.com/solutions/ network\_rd/modeler.html. 1.3, 1.5.2
- [60] M. Paätzold, N. Avazov, and V.D. Nguyen. Design of measurement-based correlation models for shadow fading. In Advanced Technologies for Communications (ATC), 2010 International Conference on, pages 112–117, 2010. doi: 10.1109/ATC.2010.5672716. 1.5.5, 5.1, 5.4.4

- [61] Alexander Paier, Johan Karedal, Nicolai Czink, Helmut Hofstetter, Charlotte Dumard, Thomas Zemen, Fredrik Tufvesson, Andreas F. Molisch, and Christoph F. Mecklenbräuker. Car-to-car radio channel measurements at 5 GHz: Pathloss, power-delay profile, and delaydoppler spectrum. In *Proc. 4th Int. Symp. Wireless Communication Systems (ISWCS)*, pages 224–228, 2007. doi: 10.1109/ISWCS.2007.4392335. 1.5.3, 4.1
- [62] Alexander Paier, Johan Karedal, Nicolai Czink, Helmut Hofstetter, Charlotte Dumard, Thomas Zemen, Fredrik Tufvesson, Andreas F. Molisch, and Christoph F. Mecklenbräuker. Car-to-car radio channel measurements and 5ghz: Pathloss power-delay profile, and delaydoppler spectrum. In *IEEE ISWCS 2007*, pages 224 – 228, 2007. 3.1
- [63] Alexander Paier, Johan Keredal, Nicolai Czink, Charlotte Dumard, Thomas Zemen, Fredrik Tufvesson, Christoph F. Mecklenbräuker, and Andreas F. Molisch. Comparison of lund'07 vehicular channel measurements with the IEEE 802.11p channel model. Technical Report COST 2100 TD(08) 436, EURO-COST, 2008. 3.1
- [64] Victor Y. Pan and Zhao Q. Chen. The complexity of the matrix eigenproblem. In *Proceedings of the Thirty-first Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing*, pages 507–516, New York, NY, USA, 1999. ACM. ISBN 1-58113-067-8. doi: 10.1145/301250.301389.
  5.7.3
- [65] P. Paschalidis, K. Mahler, A. Kortke, M. Wisotzki, M. Peter, and W. Keusgen. 2 x 2 mimo measurements of the wideband car-to-car channel at 5.7 ghz on urban street intersections. In *Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Fall), 2011 IEEE*, sept. 2011. doi: 10.1109/ VETECF.2011.6093261. 5.5.3
- [66] C.S. Patel, G.L. Stuber, and T.G. Pratt. Simulation of Rayleigh-faded mobile-to-mobile communication channels. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 53(11):1876 1884, Nov. 2005. ISSN 0090-6778. doi: 10.1109/TCOMM.2005.858678. 1.5.1, 3.2.2, 4.1
- [67] C. Phillips, M. Ton, D. Sicker, and D. Grunwald. Practical radio environment mapping with geostatistics. In *Dynamic Spectrum Access Networks (DYSPAN), 2012 IEEE International Symposium on*, pages 422–433, 2012. doi: 10.1109/DYSPAN.2012.6478166. 1.5.5, 5.1, 5.4.4

- [68] J. Polley, D. Blazakis, J. McGee, D. Rusk, and J.S. Baras. Atemu: a fine-grained sensor network simulator. In Sensor and Ad Hoc Communications and Networks, 2004. IEEE SECON 2004. 2004 First Annual IEEE Communications Society Conference on, pages 145– 152, Oct 2004. doi: 10.1109/SAHCN.2004.1381912. 1.5.2
- [69] J.G. Proakis. *Digital Communications*. Electrical and Computer Engineering Series. McGraw-Hill Companies, 3rd edition, 1995. ISBN 9780071138145. 1.5.2
- [70] qualnet. QualNet. http://www.scalable-networks.com. 1.2.1, 1.5.2, 2.4, 4.1, 5.1
- [71] T.S. Rappaport. Wireless Communications: Principles and Practice. Prentice Hall PTR, NJ, USA, 2nd edition, 2001. ISBN 0130422320. 1.2.1, 1.5.2, 5.7.3
- [72] Lenin S. Ravindranath, Calvin Newport, Hari Balakrishnan, and Samuel Madden. Improving wireless network performance using sensor hints. In 8th Proc. USENIX Symp. on Networked Systems Design and Implementation (NSDI), Boston, MA, 2011. 1.5.6
- [73] Riccardo Rebonato and Peter Jckel. The most general methodology to create a valid correlation matrix for risk management and option pricing purposes, 1999. 5.4.3
- [74] A. Seetharam, J. Kurose, D. Goeckel, and G. Bhanage. A markov chain model for coarse timescale channel variation in an 802.16e wireless network. In *INFOCOM*, 2012 Proceedings IEEE, pages 1800–1807, March 2012. doi: 10.1109/INFCOM.2012.6195553. 1.5.1
- [75] B. Sklar. Rayleigh fading channels in mobile digital communication systems .i. characterization. *Communications Magazine, IEEE*, 35(7):90–100, jul 1997. ISSN 0163-6804. doi: 10.1109/35.601747. 5.1
- [76] J. I. Smith. A computer generated multipath fading simulation for mobile radio. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 24(3):39–40, 1975. doi: 10.1109/T-VT.1975.23600.
   2.4
- [77] J.I. Smith. A computer generated multipath fading simulation for mobile radio. Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions on, 24(3):39 40, August 1975. ISSN 0018-9545. doi: 10.1109/T-VT.1975.23600. 3.2.1

- [78] SoftWright, LLC. Tap: Terrain analysis package. http://www.softwright.com/ products/tap-software/. 5.5.5
- [79] ssf. Scalable Simulation Framework (SSFNet). http://www.ssfnet.org/ homePage.html. URL http://www.ssfnet.org/homePage.html. 1.5.2
- [80] SWANS. SWANS: Scalable Wireless Ad hoc Network Simulator. http://jist. ece.cornell.edu/swans-user/index.html. URL http://jist.ece. cornell.edu/swans-user/index.html. 1.5.2, 2.4
- [81] Robert Szewczyk, Joseph Polastre, Alan Mainwaring, and David Culler. Lessons from a sensor network expedition. pages 307–322, 2004. 1.5.5, 5.1
- [82] Ian Tan, Wanbin Tang, Ken Laberteaux, and Ahmad Bahai. Measurement and analysis of wireless channel impairments in DSRC vehicular communications. In *ICC 2008*, pages 4882 – 4888. IEEE Communications Society, 2008. 1.5.3, 3.1, 4.7.2
- [83] T. Tank and J.-P. M. G.Linnartz. Statistical characterization of Rician multipath effects in a mobile-to-mobile communication channel. *International Journal of Wireless Information Networks*, 2:17–26, 1995. ISSN 1068-9605. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BF01464195. 2.4
- [84] Tushar Tank and Jean-Paul M. G. Linnartz. Statistical characterization of rician multipath effects in a mobile-to-mobile communication channel. *International Journal of Wireless Information Networks*, 2:17–26, 1995. ISSN 1068-9605. 3.2.4
- [85] U.S. Census Bureau. TIGER/Line Shapefiles, 2011. 4.4.1
- [86] Francesco Vatalaro and Alessandro Forcella. Doppler spectrum in mobile-to-mobile communications in the presense of three-dimensional multipath scattering. *IEEE Transactions* on Vehicular Technology, 46:213 – 219, 1997. 3.2.3
- [87] Spyros Voulgaris, Mrk Jelasity, and Maarten Van Steen. A robust and scalable peer-to-peer gossiping protocol. In *In 2nd Intl Workshop Agents and Peer-toPeer Computing, LNCS* 2872, pages 47–58. Springer, 2003. 1.1
- [88] Wenjing Wang, Fei Xie, and M. Chatterjee. An integrated study on mobility models and

scalable routing protocols in VANETs. In *Proc. Mobile Networking for Vehicular Environments*, pages 97–102, 2007. doi: 10.1109/MOVE.2007.4300812. 1.5.4

- [89] Xiaohui Wang, K. Borries, E. Anderson, and P. Steenkiste. Network-scale emulation of general wireless channels. In *Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Fall), 2011 IEEE*, pages 1 –5, September 2011. doi: 10.1109/VETECF.2011.6093273. 4.1, 4.6.1, 4.7.1, 4.7.2, 4.7.4, 4.7.4, 4.7.5
- [90] Xiaohui Wang, Eric Anderson, Peter Steenkiste, and Fan Bai. Improving the accuracy of environment-specific vehicular channel modeling. In *Proceeding of WiNTECH*, New York, NY, USA, 2012. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-1527-2. doi: 10.1145/2348688.2348699. 5.5.4, 5.7.4
- [91] Xilinx. Virtex-6 family overview. http://www.xilinx.com/support/ documentation/data\_sheets/ds150.pdf, January 2010. Doc. DS150 (v2.2). 3.4.2
- [92] J. Yackoski, B. Azimi-Sadjadi, A. Namazi, J.H. Li, Y. Sagduyu, and R. Levy. Rfnest: Radio frequency network emulator simulator tool. In *MILITARY COMMUNICATIONS CONFER-ENCE*, 2011 - *MILCOM 2011*, pages 1882–1887, Nov 2011. doi: 10.1109/MILCOM.2011. 6127587. 1.5.2
- [93] A.G. Zajic and G.L. Stübber. Space-time correlated mobile-to-mobile channels: Modelling and simulation. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 57(2):715–726, March 2008. ISSN 0018-9545. doi: 10.1109/TVT.2007.905591. 2.4
- [94] Alenka G Zajić and Gordon L. Stüber. Space-time correlated mobile-to-mobile channels: Modelling and simulation. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 57:715 – 726, 2008. 3.1
- [95] Xiongwen Zhao, Jarmo Kivinen, Pertti Vainikainen, and Kari Skog. Characterization of doppler spectra for mobile communications at 5.3 ghz. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 52:14 – 23, 2003. 3.2.3
- [96] He Zhiyi, Chen Wei, Zhou Wei, Matthias Pätzold, and Ali Chelli. Modelling of MIMO vehicle-to-vehicle fading channels in t-junction scattering environments. In *Antennas and*

*Propagation, 2009. EuCAP 2009. 3rd European Conference on*, pages 652–656, 2009. 4.1, 4.2.2